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PROGRESS REPORT - 2017

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Objectives of the Institute

According to Act of Parliament No.28 of 1985, legal power has been given to the National
Institute of Education for the achievement of the following objectives.
(a) Advise the Minister regarding plans, programmes and activities for the development
of education in Sri Lanka;
(b) Provide and promote post-graduate education in the several specialties of education;
(c) Conduct and promote studies on the education system including its performance,
goals, structures, content and methodology and on the social, economic and other
aspects of education;
(d) Initiate and promote innovative practices in the education system including adaptation
of technology for educational purposes;
(e) Provide for the development of professional and general competence of personnel in
the education system;
(F) Make specialist services in education available to the Government and other approved
organizations, carry out education development programmes approved by the
Minister; and

(9) Co-ordinate with other institutions having similar objectives.

Therefore, NIE is responsible for assuring quality education through a curriculum appropriate
for the socio-economic context and designed for the development of productive citizens to
meet the local and global demands, provide leadership in preparing competent professionals
for the school system and ensure a scientific information base by undertaking research to
guide and facilitate policy making for the development of education. Accordingly the tasks

assigned to NIE are implemented under the supervision of five Faculties and one Division.

According to the current plan of implementing the curriculum, every eight years a complete
change, development or revision in the curriculum is effected. ~ After the implementing of
modernized curricula in 2012, it was decided to rationalize the curricula in the next cycle
starting from 2015 based on the following criterias.



¢ Information disclosed through the studies conducted by curricula developers of NIE
regarding the implementation of the curriculum in the school system.

e Views and suggestions regarding the curriculum given by various social groups.

e Successful experiences of various countries of the world regarding the development
and implementation of the curriculum.

e Integrate new knowledge and teaching methodologies added on to each subject area.

The main focus on school curricula in the year 2017 was the implementation of a rationalized
curriculum in Grades 2,8,12 monitoring their implementation at school level and the
preparation of Teacher Guides and training of provincial trainers in order to implement the
fifth step of the curriculum cycle in grades 3,9, & 13 for 2018 as well as to prepare syllabi
for grades 5 & trying out of grade 4 TG in 2018 and 2019 respectively.

1.2 Financing

After the introduction of the Education Sector Development Programme, financial allocations
for curriculum related activities were initially covered by the funds provided by Transforming
the School Education System as the Foundation of a Knowledge Hub Project (TSEP/ DFAT)
and United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) and Education Sector Development
Programme (ESDP).

Due to the limitation of funds from the treasury, Rs. 169 million had to be borne for the main
expenses like water, electricity, sanitation and also to purchase some capital items to the
Institute from the income derived from various courses conducted by the Institute in the year
2017.

The table below provides information on the expenditure of the Institute for 2017.

Recurrent Expenditure Capital Expenditure
Source of Funding Revised Actual Revised Actual
allocation | Expenditure | allocation | Expenditure
CF 430,000,000 | 330,000,000 | 200,000,000 80,686,695
TSEP /DFAT 112,000,000 | 112,000,000 | 48,000,000 23,523,533
Income (NIE) 138,825,500 | 119,023,848 | 53,800,000 14,736,618
ESDP 72,000,000 72,000,000 -
Unicef 8,164,800 8,164,800 - -
Korean National 3,705,000 3,705,000 - -
Commissionfor UNESCO




1.3 Staffing

Further to the implementation of functions assigned to the Institute by Act of Parliament NIE

has to play vital role in the development and implementation of new priority programmes of

the Government on education such as; 13 years of Guaranteed Education Programme, School

Based Assessment Programme by the existing staff of the Institute with immense

commitment amidst numerous diffculties.

The table below provides a clear picture of the staff position of the Institute by the end 2017.

Designation Approved staff Current staff No. of
(as 01.01.2017) (as 31.12.2017) vacancies
Male | Female Total (as 31.12.2017)

Director General 01 00 01 01 00
Additional Director General 01 00 00 00 01
Deputy Director General 06 02 00 02 04
Director 27 07 07 14 13
Board Secretary (Education) 01 01 00 01 00
Senior  Lecturer /  Senior 72 47 18 65 07
Educationist

Lecturer / Educationist 75 07 17 24 51
Assistant Lecturer / Assistant 90 29 26 55 35
Educationist

Non Academic Staff 379 147 149 296 83
Total 652 240 218 458 194

Several efforts were taken with the Ministry of Education and with the Department of

Management Services to overcome the above shortage existed and obtained approval to fill

all the staff positions. Necessary arrangement was taken by the management to recruit

suitable persons for some posts and the rest scheduled to be completed in 2018.




The following figure represents the current situation of the academic staff by qualification.

Figure 1 - Acdemic staff / classification by qualification
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2.0  Organizational Structure of the NIE

2.1 The Council 2017
Subject to the provisions of the NIE Act the Council shall have the following powers:

e  Appoint the staff of the Institute in accordance with scheme of the recruitment
and procedures for appointment prescribed by regulations ;

o Determine the terms and conditions of the services of the staff of the Institute
including wages, salary or other remunerations;

o Enact rules with regard to matters of discipline;

e  Establish and regulate provident funds and schemes for the benefit of the staff of

the Institute and contribute to any such fund or scheme.

As per the National Institute of Education Act the Council of the Institute is vested with the

financial and administrative powers. The following members served in the Council in 2017.



The Council 2017

Mr.Sunil Hettiarachchi ,

(Secretary, MoE) Chairman
Dr.(Mrs.) T.A.R.J.Gunasekara Member
(Director General, NIE)

Mr. Tissa Hewavithana

(State Secretary, MoE) Member
Mr. S.H. Kumarasinghe Memb
(Retired Principal, Royal College, Colombo 07) ember
Prof. P.S.M.Gunaratne Member

(Vice-chairman, University Grants Commission)

Dr. Hemamala Ratwatte
(Senior Lecturer, Dept. of Language Studies, Open University of Member
Sri Lanka)

Mr. M.K.Pradeep Kumara

(Senior Assistant Secretary, Procurement Monitoring Member
Division, Ministry of Finance)

Mr. AAM.R.B. Amarakoon

(Former Commissioner General of Examinations, Member
Dept. of Examinations)

Mr.N.K.G.K.Nemmawatta
(Additional Secretary, ,Higher Education (Non-state) Member
Ministry of Higher Education and Highways) From 17.01.2017to 29.11.2017

Dr.Harsha Subasinghe Member
Prof.P.Ravindra Fernando Member

(Chairman, Board of Dangerous Drug Control)

Ms. V.D.C.P. Perera Secretary
(Director,External Resource Management Unit, NIE) (Till 16.03.2017)
Mr.M.A.P.Munasinghe Secretary (From 20.03.2017)

Apart from the Council, the Academic Affairs Board which consists of experts in education
management, administration and other relevant fields is responsible for all academic affairs
and providing educational and institutional leadership, supervision and advice in the
following functions / affairs.

e Advise the Council on all academic matters;

e Consider and report on any matter referred to it by the Council,



Make recommendations and report to the Council on matters connected with
courses of study, training programme or programmes and examinations,
conducted or held by the Institute;

Recommend to the Council the requirements to be imposed for the admission of
students to courses of study, training programme or programmes and
examinations conducted or held by the Institute;

Drafting rules relating to courses of study, teaching programme or, programmes
and examinations conducted by the Institute and submit such drafts to the Council,
Recommend to the Council, names of persons suitable for appointment as
examiners at examinations held by the Institute;

Recommend to the Council the award of exhibitions and other prizes to such
persons who have fulfilled the conditions approved by the Council for the award
of such scholarships, medals and prizes; and

Appoint, with the permission of the Council, committees which may include

individual other than the members of the Board.

The Academic Affairs Board 2017 comprised the following educational experts.

Dr.M.A.Upali Mampitiya (Senior Lecturer, Dept. of Mathematics, Chairman
University of Kelaniya)

Dr. (Mrs) T.A.R.J. Gunasekera (Director General, NIE) Member
Prof.R.Arangala (Professor, Department of Sinhala, University Member
of Sri Jayawardhanapura)

Mr. K.M.H. Bandara (Chief Commissioner, Teacher Education, Ministry of
Education) Member
Mr. E.K.Ganihigama (Department of Sociology, University of Member
of Sri Jayawardhanapura)

Prof.R.U.Halwatura (Department of Civil Engineering, University of Member
Moratuwa)

Dr. Priyantha Premakumara (Secretary, University Grants Member
Commission)

Dr.M.T.M Mahees (Senior Lecturer, Department of Sociology  University Member
of Colombo)

Dr.Mahim Mendis (Senior Lecturer, Department of Social Sciences, Member
Open University of Sri Lanka)

Mr. V. Mutukumaraswamy (former Principal, Hindu College, Colombo Member

04)
Mr.W.M.N.J. Pushpakumara (Commissioner General of Examinations,
National Evaluation & Testing Service)

Mr.B.Sanath Pujitha (Commissioner General of Examinations,
National Evaluation & Testing Service)
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Mr. 1.M.K.B. lllangasinghe (Commissioner General, Dept. of Education Member
Publications, Ministry of Education)

Ven. Dr. Mambulgoda Sumanarathana Thero (DDG, Faculty of Member

Languages, Humanities and Social Sciences)

Mr. M. F. S. P. Jayawardene (DDG, Faculty of Science & Member(Till 17.07.2017)
Technology, NIE)

Mr.N.V.A.S.Samarasighe (Acting DDG Faculty of Member

Teacher Education and Alternative Education)

Ms. V.D.C.P. Perera Secretary to the AAB
(Director,External Resource Management Unit, NIE) (Till 16.03.2017)
Mr.M.A.P.Munasinghe Secretary to the AAB

(From 20.03.2017)

Under the guidance and supervision of the Council and Academic Affairs Board of NIE

activities assigned to NIE carried out under the following organization structure.
2.1 Director General’s Office

The Secretariat Unit is responsible for the preparation and circulation of documents for the
NIE Council and the Academic Affairs Board, maintenance of records and informing the
decisions of the Council and the Academic Affairs Board to the relevant Faculties and
Divisions. During last year, 12 Council meetings, 13 AAB meetings and 01 joint meeting

have been coordinated.

The Department of Examinations is responsible for providing an efficient and effective
examination system by maintaining the standards. Since the NIE is involved in conducting a
number of professional development courses and efficient and effective examination system
is maintained for certification purposes. Conducting evaluation and certification of following

exams have been affected by the Department within the year - 2017.

- Advanced Certificate Course in Teaching Science-2016-Final Examination
2016

- Advanced Certificate Course in Teaching Math-Final Examination 2017

- Certificate Course on Braille Education (Written examination) -2017

- Diploma in Teaching English as a Second Language -2017

- Diploma in Sign Language — 2016/2017 (Final)

- Diploma in Special Education- 2016/2017 (Final)

- Diploma in Early Childhood Development 2016/2017

- Diploma in School Management 2016/2017 (Final)
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- Diploma in School Management 2017 (Entrance examination)

- Diploma in Teaching Japanese as a foreign language 2016 (Final)

- Bachelor of Education - 2013/2015- (Part 111) -2017

- Bachelor of Education - 2013/2015- (Part 1) Repeat-2017

- Bachelor of Education - 2013/2015- (Part 11) Repeat-2017

- Bachelor of Education - 2011/2013- (Part 111) Repeat-2017

- Master of Education - 2015/2016 —Final Exam-2017

- Master of Education - Entrance Exam-2017

- Post graduate Diploma in Education -2015/2016 (Final)-2017

- Post graduate Diploma in Education Management (Part-time ) 2017

- Post graduate Diploma in Education Management (Full-time ) 2017

Extra Examinations

- Orientation programme for Sri Lanka Principal Service Officers Examination-
2017( second stage)

- First efficiency bar examination (NIE staff) for management assistant 111 (Non
Technology/Technology).

- Post graduate Diploma in Education Administration (Final Exam) -2017.

- Post graduate Diploma in Education Management (Full-time & Part-time)
(Entrance Exam) -2017.

The Internal Audit Unit is reporting direct to the Head of the Institution. The unit supervises
the implementation of the internal control system of the Institute. In relation to the above
Internal Audit Unit prepared 29 audit reports, checked 551 files for payments over Rs.75,

000 and submitted by various departments.

The External Resources Management Unit is responsible for all matters related to foreign funded
projects and will coordinate with relevant local and foreign agencies to get maximum benefits to the
Institute. In addition, the unit will coordinate all foreign scholarships and fellowships. During the last
five years, a number of opportunities were given to the academic staff of the NIE to enhance their

professional competencies through long-term and short-term programmes overseas and grants.

12



Following are the achievements for 2017:

2.2

221

2.2.2

2.2.3

Made arrangements for 19 officers to follow short term foreign study programmes
such as seminars, training programmes and workshops.

Facilitated 09 academic officers to follow PhD programmes at Management and
Science University in Malaysia with the sponsorship of ADB & World Bank.
Conducted 01 short-term training programme on implementation of vocational
curriculum for 15 officers at the University of Malaya, Malaysia who are engaged in

the development of 13 of Guaranteed Education Programme.

Faculties and Divisions
Given below is how the different Departments and units of the Institute are

orchestrated under its organizational structure in 2017.

Faculty of Languages, Humanities and Social Sciences
Department of Early Childhood and Primary Education
Department of Sinhala

Department of Tamil

Department of English

Department of Aesthetics

Department of Religions and Value Education
Department of Social Sciences

Faculty of Science and Technology

Department of Science

Department of Mathematics

Department of Technology Education
Department of Commerce

Department of Information Technology & EMIS
Health and Physical Education Unit

Department of Printing & Publication

Faculty of Research and Planning
Department of Planning and Evaluation

Department of Research and Development

13



2.2.4 Faculty of Education Leadership Development and Management
Department of Professional Development & Management
Department of Education Administration & Development

Foreign Courses Unit

2.2.5 Faculty of Teacher Education and Alternative Education
Department of Teacher Education
Department of Institutional Development
Department of Inclusive Education
Department of Classical / Foreign Languages and Bilingual Education
Department of Electronic Dissemination
Guidance and Counseling Unit
Open School Unit

2.2.6  Division of Administration, Finance and Support Services
Department of Administration and HR
Department of Finance
Department of Engineering Services and Maintenance
Department of Library and Museum

Transport Unit
Special Functions / Achievements of NIE in the year 2017

Further to the implementation of functions included in the Annual Implementation Plan
(AIP) — 2017 related to curriculum development, professional development and
education, research several additional activities related to the activities of AIP — 2017
have been implemented by the National Institute of Education in 2017.

e Held convocation on 31% January at the Bandararanaike International Memorial
Conference Hall for the graduates who successfully completed the degree /post-
graduate courses conducted by the NIE. At the convocation the Prime Minister
Hon. Ranil Wickramasinghe awarded degree certificates to 02 MPhil graduates,
196 MEd graduates, 1355 BEd graduates, 03 MSc graduates (resident) and 23
MSc graduates (Foreign).

e Inaugural meeting of the Board of Management of South Asian Teacher
Development Centre composed of UNESCO representatives and the members of
the regional countries was held at the Meepe premises on 30" March 2017.

14



e Conducted Special Seminar on 19" February 2017 with the participation of
relevant officers from the Private and Public institutions in order to get ideas for
the Thirteen Years of Guaranteed Education Programme scheduled to implement
as government priority programme on Education.

e Organized two following special lectures related to education

v" “Finnish education and latest trends in a nutshell” by ADB consultant Mr.
Anderson Longman.

v' “TVET curriculum in Malaysia” conducted by Associate Professor Dr.
Norlidah Alias and Dr. Dorathy Dewitt of the University of Malaya.

e Necessary actions taken to obtain benefits of the "Agrahara Insurance Coverage"
for the NIE staff providing half of the monthly amount agreed per participant form

the NIE income.

3.0  Curriculum Development

The curriculum development activities of the National Institute of Education are performed
by the Faculty of Languages, Humanities and Social Sciences and the Faculty of Science and
Technology.

Under the powers vested in the Institute regarding curriculum development, the NIE
implemented 64 curriculum development — related activities in 2017 with the support of 7
Departments belonging to the Faculty of Languages, Humanities and Social Sciences, 6
Departments belonging to the Faculty of Science and Technology and the Department of
Classical and Foreign Languages and Bilingual Education belonging to the Faculty of
Teacher Education and Alternative Education. Through the curriculum development
activities, it was expected to achieve the following objectives and all the exercises undertaken

in this regard are targeted for them.

Main objectives of the above Faculties are as follows:

e Planning, developing and updating the curriculum to suit the social, cultural,

economic and technical needs.

e Introducing new techniques to the school system for a meaningful practical learning /

teaching process with the innovation of the curriculum.

15



Accord

will op

Improving the professional competencies in those who are involved in the
development and implementation activities of the curriculum.

Implementing studies that contribute to the qualitative progress of education in order
to elicit information on curriculum development and implementation.

Introducing new methodologies for the success of learning / teaching and evaluation
activities.

Developing competencies in communication, information technology and national
and international languages in students.

Developing competencies in students to protect and safeguard the culture and national
heritage.

Developing competencies in students to value religious, cultural and language

diversities of various ethnic groups in society and live in cohabitation as Sri Lankans.

ing to the following plan of curriculum implementation, the rationalized curriculum

erate on every grade in the system from 2015 and in 2017 priority was given to

introduce its next step to grades 3, 9 and 13 in 2018. The tasks scheduled by the NIE in this

connection are tabulated below.

Implementation plan for the curriculum cycle 2012 - 2020

Task 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 201 | 202
9 0
Preparation of grid Gr.1-5
6-11
Preparation of syllabi | Gr. 6,10 | cr.1,71 | Gr28 Gr3,9, |Gr.4 Gr.5
) 12 &
13
Preparation of TGs Gr6,10 |Grl1,71 |Gr28, |Gr391 |Gr4 Gr.5
1 12 3
Awareness Gr.6,10 Gr.1,7, Gr.2,812 Gr.3,9,1 Gr.4 Gr.5
programmes on 11 3
curriculum
Implementation of Gr.610 | Grazu | Gragiz | Gr3o13 | Gra | Grs
curricula
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Following tasks were implemented related to the Curriculum Development in 2017.

3.1

3.2

Task completed related to Primary Education

Reviewing prepared 12 Teachers Guides in Gr.3 for strengthening guided play and
activities.
Drafted activities for Gr.4 Teachers Guides for strengthening guided play and
activities.
Prepared diagnosis instruments of Essential Learning Competencies for KS 2.
Finalized booklet for the introduction of formative assessment and updated 130
primary team members.
Prepared 10 supplementary materials to strengthen Activity Based Oral English
(ABOE) in Primary grades.
Developed activities to strengthen Mathematics and Environmental Related Activities
(ERA), DRR, Climate Change and School Safety in primary curriculum incorporating
creative problem solving and social cohesion.

Developed supplementary materials to strengthen social cohesion concepts in Gr.3
curriculum.,
Completed report on Early Childhood Development standards (age 10 years).
Developed syllabus for Degree course for Early Childhood Development.
Updated 360 ISAA to strengthen capacities of primary provincial teams on teaching
Second National Language.

Updated 619 provincial resource persons on Gr.3 Teachers Guide.

Task Completed related to Secondary Education

Teachers Guides Prepared

e 02 final drafts of Teachers Guides for Grade 12
e 24 final drafts of Teachers Guides for Grade 13
e 04 final drafts of Teachers Guides for Grade 9

Resource Books / Materials Prepared

Additional Reading materials —Sinhala for Gr.12/13.
Workbook for Sinhala Gr.6.

Student Test Item-Sinhala Gr.12/13.

Student Test Item First language-Tamil for Gr.13.

17



e 02 workbooks for 2NL —Gr.7 and 11.

. Supplementary material for English-Gr.9 with CD.

e 06 resource books for Art, Bharathanatyam, Oriental Music -Gr.9 & 13.
e 02 Resource books for Western Music-Gr.8 and 12.

e 02 resource books for Hinduism and Hindu Civilization for Gr.12.

o Student Test Item for Geography — Gr.12/13.

e  Atlas for A/L History.

e  Manual on career education.

e 02 resource books for Political Sciences and Logic & Scientific Method.
e 01 Resource book and Student Test Item on Combined Maths.

o E-catalogue(S/T) for Mathematics-Gr.10/11.

e 02 practical guides for Engineering Technology and Bio-system Technology.

o ICT glossary (T)

Magazines/Newsletters Published
e Ayadhanam Nawarthri magazine.

e  Business Studies magazine (S/T).

Audio/video materials Prepared
e CD (Audio) for Sinhala — Gr.6-11.
e 02 DVDs for Bio-system Technology.

e 30 educational software

Conferences/Competitions Conducted
e 4™ National conference on language assessment.

e 02 Business idea competitions (S/T).

Reports Prepared

e 05 reports on monitoring the implementation of Agro and Food Technology,
Design and Technology, Home Economics, Art and Craft, Science for Technology
and Accounting curriculum-Gr.10/11.

e 01 report on monitoring the implementation rationalized materials in Gr.7 and 11.

18



3.3

Training programs Conducted

Grade Targets for 2017 No. trained from
January to December 2017
Gr.9 7425 6620
Gr.11 1040 1012
Gr.12/13 26950 24786

Awareness Programmes Conducted
e 10 awareness programmes on global citizenship for 154 ISAA and SDs
e Conducted awareness programmes for 821 ISAA, Principals, Subject
Directors on Business & Accounting Education.
e Conducted awareness programmes for 500 teachers on Entrepreneurial
Studies.

Implementation of Thirteen Years of Guaranteed Education Programme

Various development strategies were adopted in the total curriculum development
process in the system from Gr. 1 to 13, it seems remarkable number of students
dropping out the system without obtaining proper knowledge, competency or skills
necessary for living as a successful citizen due to the issues in the existing high
structure curriculum, teaching learning process and examination system. Accordingly
the gaps were identified in the system and considering the gaps identified and also the
existing education trends and global / local demands a new education policy proposal
has been developed by the Government to provide 13 years of Guaranteed Education
Programme to remedy the above issues and to ensure learning opportunities and free
education in the country. Task related to curriculum development and training
assigned to NIE end of 2016 and developed 08 syllabi and modules for Generic
Component under 8 themes and 26 syllabi and modules for new vocational sybjects

under 7 subject domains by the National Institute of Education within the year 2017.
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4.0

In addition to the above training of 418 teachers have been trained in 2017 nominated
from the 42 schools selected for the implementation of first phase of the above

programme.

Education Leadership Development and Management

Enhancing the management and leadership capacities of personnel involved in the
field of education is the main task assigned to the Faculty of Leadership Development
and Management established at Meepe, which, according to the Act, is: “to provide
for the development of professional and managerial competence of personnel in the

education system”.

In order to achieve the above task, various courses related to education management
and school administration, ranging from Master Level to Diploma level are conducted
by the Faculty.

In addition to the above, the Faculty conducts short- term courses for officers in the
Sri Lanka Education Administration Service (SLEAS) and long-term induction
courses specially designed for new recruits to the SLEAS. The thematic courses
conducted by the Faculty were specially designed to provide an in-depth knowledge

of selected themes in Education Management and ICT for education management.

The following table indicates the progress of courses implemented by the Faculty of

Education Leadership Development & Management in 2017.

Name of the Course

Department Responsible

Location

No. of

Participants

Postgraduate Courses

M.Sc. in Education Management Professional deve.& Edu. | Meepe Centre 32
Postgraduate Diploma Courses
Postgraduate Dip. in Ed. Management Professional dev. & Edu. | Meepe Centre 303
(Full time/ Part time) Mat.
Diploma Courses
Diploma in School Management Professional Dev. & Edu. | Meepe Centre 324
Magt. English
Courses for Foreign Students
Professional Dev. & Edu. | Meepe Centre 15

Master of Science in Education
Leadership Management

Mat.
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5.0

Professional Development of Teachers

The National Institute of Education has a long and distinguished history of catering to
the professional development needs of large and diverse groups of teachers by using
innovative teacher education modes. Achieving the expected objectives of any
curriculum or other development initiative introduced to the system depends on the
teacher factor; this is needed in the provision of high quality degree courses which
aim at providing the teachers with the confidence, competence and the understanding
they need to become effective practitioners. For this purpose, various teacher
education courses ranging from Master of Philosophy level to Certificate level are
conducted by the respective teacher education departments and some curriculum

development Departments.

In viewed this, NIE works in close collaboration with its regional centres dispersed

throughout the county.

All the post-graduate/degree/ Non-Degree courses implemented by the NIE focus
mainly on the professional development needs of educational personnel and are

expected to support the respective client group to:

- get acquainted with new trends in education,

- broaden subject knowledge and learn how to apply it in the classroom,

- develop high levels of teaching and classroom management skills,

- work productively with students by catering to individual differences,

- work productively with parents with knowledge of their strengths and
capabilities,

- develop a set of general competencies that provide the basis for good teaching,

- engage in small scale research that help improve work-related practices,

- get acquainted with practices of competency-based performance assessments,
and

- Develop a self-critical approach to teaching.
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The following chart indicates the progress of courses implemented by the various

departments in the Faculty of Languages, Humanities & Social Sciences and Faculty of

Alternative Education & Teacher Education:

Name of the Course

Department Responsible

Location

No. of

Participants

Postgraduate Courses

Master of Philosophy Teacher Education NIE 26

Master of Education Teacher Education NIE/Jaffna Centre 306

Postgraduate Diploma Courses

Postgraduate Dip. in Education Teacher Education NIE .42 regional 3950
Centres

Graduate Courses

Bachelor of Education Teacher Education NIE + 46 regional 4905
Centres

Bachelor of Education (Engineering) Teacher Education NIE + for University 260

Diploma Courses

Dip. in Teaching English as a Second English NIE 28

Language

Dip. in Early Childhood and Primary Primary Education NIE 47

Education

Dip. in Special Education Inclusive Education NIE 65

Dip. in Sign Language Inclusive Education NIE 24

Dip. in Guidance and Counseling Guidance & Counseling NIE 69

Dip. in Additional Language Teacher Education NIE + 10 regional 380

Improvement centers

Short-Term Thematic Courses

Thematic course on Braille Inclusive Education NIE 15

51 Institutional Development

The NIE is responsible for curriculum development for pre-service teacher education

programmes conducted through the National College of Educations (NCoEs) as well

as for in-service teacher education programmes conduct through the Teacher Training

Colleges (TTCs). During the year 2017 following interventions have taken place:

e Commenced work related to 16 syllabi for Teacher Training Colleges.

e Prepared 12 question papers for Teacher Training College’s internal exams.

e Conducted 09 forums for National College of Educations and Teacher Training

College’s vice-presidents.

e Made 09 visits of NCoEs and TTCs to supervise teacher education courses.
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6.0

6.1

Relevant course sessions conducted for 294 Dharmacharya teachers to provide basic
qualifications to entre Sri Lanka Teaching Service.

Extra works:

Completed a study on "Gender issues emergent in the teacher education in Asia"
under the egis of UNESCO with a view to understanding the levels of inclusion of
gender related concepts in the education courses text books in SL, Nepal, Myammar,
Cambadia & Uzbekistan.

Developed an instructional manual for NCoEs and TTCs on teaching practice and
personality assessment.

Conducted training programme on “Activity based Oral English” for TTCs and
NCoEs.

Conducted training programme on “Principals of Education” and “Educational

Society” for 13 NCoEs lecturers.

Alternative Education

Further to the implementation of the above tasks, Faculty of Teacher Education and
Alternative Education focused widening the education opportunities especially for those who
missed the mainstream of formal education due to various reasons. In this regard the Faculty
upholds the concept of “Education for all” and Lifelong Education while maximizing its
efforts to expand and utilize the facilities offered by modern technology and other auxiliary
services that supplement the delivery of education. In pursuing the above, following are the
activities implemented by the Departments / Units in the year 2017.

Inclusive Education

The Department of Inclusive Education occupies a special position in making the
concept of Education for All a reality. This Department is responsible for
developing school curriculum suitable for children with special needs, providing
necessary training to ISAs and teachers involved in special education and preparation
of supplementary curricula materials. Furthermore, they have been provided
professional development opportunities through courses on Inclusive Education, Sign
Language and Braille Education. The under mentioned activities have been
completed during the period considered.

Completion of 02 final drafts of supplementary books: children with Autistic, children
with speech disorder
Prepared magazine on inclusive education.

Prepared 01 instructional DVD on Sign Language
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6.2

6.3

Trained 821 of ISAA / Teachers to strengthen Special Education
Identified 40 children with special educational needs and provided parent counseling.
Drafted report on a study to find out reasons of special education specialized

diplomats of NCoEs not remaining within their specialized field.

Electronic Dissemination

NIE renders a signal service by ushering the school community as well as the external
community towards a learning society through the use of electronic learning material
such as Television, Radio and CDs that are attractive and effective learning teaching
tools in the non-formal education fields. Various programmes are being produced
using aesthetic methods such as songs, music and drama to explain higher order
concepts in the curriculum and to make the school community aware of the timely

changes in the curriculum.
The following are the activities completed by the end of 2017:

e Production of 20 supplementary audio materials for primary and secondary
levels of education curricula (S/T) to enrich teaching learning process.

e Production of 21 (S) educational video materials for NIE degree courses.

Guidance and Counseling

In order to meet the psychological needs of the educational community, the Guidance
and Counselling Unit was established in June 2006. The unit takes the responsibility
of providing career guidance and counselling services to the student population. The

following activities were completed in 2017:

e Conducted in-house counselling sessions for 36 school children and parents.

e Updated 133 school counsellors on counselling service in Sabaragamuwa,
Central and Uva provinces.

e Prepared draft job inventory-2017 under six fields (auto mobile, building and
construction, textiles and garments, hotel and tourism, banking and
management and ICT).

e Completed 02 job fields (Medical & Health Science, Electrical, Electronic and
Telecommunication) in the updated job inventory -2017.
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6.4

7.0

7.1

Open Learning

The unit of Open School was established with the aim of conducting distance
education courses for the group that misses formal education due to various reasons.
This process is taking education closer to the learner by using distance and open
methods. Irrespective of educational qualifications, employment or social satisfaction,
this process expects to broaden the provision of educational opportunities for all.
Open school facilitates the learner to decide when to start learning, which mode to

adopt and also helps to start from any appropriate stage.

The following activities were completed in 2017 with regard to the programme on

open learning.

Updated 83 tutors of Literacy, Foundation and Open Secondary courses.

Conducted 69 face to face sessions for providing leaner support.

Enrolled 110 participants for Literacy course, 400 participants for Foundation course
in 2017.

Completed 210 participants of Literacy course, 190 completed Foundation course and

1400 continuing the Open Secondary course in 2017.

Research and Planning

As an institution functioning towards quality education the NIE implements
curriculum development, professional development and policy making through a
variety of research and planning activities. These activities are conducted by the

Department of Research and Development and Planning and Evaluation.

Research and Development

Initiate, develop and extend educational research, set a platform to address
educational issues that need dialogue and debate, provide opportunities for the people
in the field of education to develop their research skills by conducting courses and
providing grants and disseminating research information, are the main functions of the

Department of Research and Development.
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7.2

The following are the outstanding achievements of the Department during the year
2017:

Completion of report of a study “A study on factors influence in students' absenteeism
in Grade 13”.

Completion of report of a study “Quality of Pre-service teachers in Sri Lanka".
Completion of draft report of “Entire system analysis for the next curriculum reforms
beyond 2020 is in progress.

Conducting the 28" C.W.W.Kannangara Memorial Lecture on “Medical Education
and Kannangara Philosophy” by Dr.Sujeewa Amarasena, Senior Professor, Faculty of
Medicine, University of Ruhuna.

Conducted research dissemination seminar for 81 participants.

Planning and Evaluation

With a view to achieving the aims and objectives of NIE in agreement with the
national aims and to utilize the available human and physical resources in an efficient
and effective manner, the following activities have been completed under Planning
and Evaluation by the end of 2017:

e Preparation of Annual Progress Report 2016.
e Preparation of budget estimates, annual budget and annual implementation plan
for the year 2018 and 2018 -2022 Five Year Plan.
e Preparation of 04 quarterly progress reports of activities implemented under local
and foreign funded projects in 2017.
e Preparation of following progress reports requested by other institutes:
- 02 progress reports for Central Bank
- 04 progress reports for Organizational Results Framework (ORF).
- 04 progress reports for Treasury
- Progress report for COPE meeting (S/T/E)
- Quarterly progress reports for foreign funded agencies: ADB.TSEP,
DFAT, unicef.
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8.0

8.1

Administration, Financial & Support Services

The function of the Division of Administration, Finance and Supporting Services is to
procure financial, physical and managerial services and support services with respect

to the functions of the five academics faculties of the Institute.

Department of Administration

The Department of Administration, which is under Division of Administration,
Finance and Supporting Services, takes responsibility for all functions related to day
to day administration, identifying training needs of the staff and providing necessary
training at local level. The following recruitments and promotions were completed by
the Department of Administration during the period of January to December 2017.

Recruitments

Deputy Director General - 01
Assistant Lecturer - 25
Assistant Director (Finance) - 01
Office Secretary - 01
Book keeper - 01
Civil Engineer - 01
Promotions
Director - 02
Senior Lecturer - 25
Lecturer - 10
Human Resource Management - 01
Finance Officer - 01
Technical Officer - 01
Management Assistant | (Non Technical) - 13
Management Assistant Il (Non Technical) - 04
Management Assistant | (Technical) - 06
Office Aid — | - 07
Office Aid- Il - 06
Labour - 01

Financial assistance as well as study leave was provided for 40 academic and non-

academic officers of the Institute to follow the study programmes requested by them.
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8.2

8.3

8.4

Department of Finance

The Department of Finance provides the financial resources for all tasks of the
Institute and maintains income and expenditure reports in terms of financial rules and

regulations

e Prepared and completed the fixed assets register and the evaluation procedures.
e Completed the Board of survey for 2017

e Prepared final financial statement 2017

Department of Engineering Services and Maintenance

The Department of Engineering Services carries out the responsibility for the
maintenance of the physical environment appropriate for educational activities by
handling the construction and maintenance of the buildings of the Institution,
maintenance of electrical and telephone services, provision of infrastructural facilities
and coordination of cleaning and security service. The following activities related to

Engineering Services were completed in the year of 2017:

e [Initiation of construction of the Five Storied Building Complex at NIE
e Completion of 17 refurbishment work at NIE & Meepe.
e Completion of 05 repair and maintenance jobs at NIE and Meepe.

e Completion of 02 rehabilitation of plant and machinery jobs

Library

In addition to the internal members of staff, the library of the NIE is often used by the
University Staff, Staff of NCoEs and Teacher Training Colleges, teachers and
students as well as other educationists for academic purposes. The following books

and CDs were added to the library collection in 2017.

Books 1664
Books (donations) 82
Curriculum materials 868
Educational reports 126
Local Magazines (donations) 15
Local Magazines 08
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8.5

Foreign Magazines (donations) 12

N.I.E collection 21
Newsletters 05
DVD/CD 18

Printing and Publications

The following publications of the Institute have been printed by the Department of
Printing and Publications in 2017.

Teacher's Guides 24
Syllabi 103
Teacher training hand books 22
Other materials 84
Certificates 19
Additional publications 79
Invitations 06

In addition to the above, participated in 05 book exhibitions and got an opportunity to

promote NIE publications and documents related to curriculum development.
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b EDUfoNIE/’FAflKl? Do
e %?n?“ } Date ]’ 15 October 2018
The Director General

. 'National 'In_st_itate- of Education .

: _'I'-'E-Report of the Audltor General on the Fmancnal Statements of the Natlonal Instltute of
_j-' 3 Educatlon for the year ended 31 December 2017 m terms of Sectlon 14(2)( c) of the Fmance :' o
o ':_..-.'ACta NO 38 of 1971 ' T : : _ S

: The auth' _of _ﬁnancral statements of the Natlonal_lnstltute of Educatlon for the year end d

: e._-statement of aJlCIEll posxtlon as at 31 December 20

o ':s__ _tement of ﬁnan(nal performance the statement of changes 1n eqmty and cash ﬂow statement

the Year n ended and a surmnarY of s1gmfcant accountmg pOIICICS and other explanato
e lnformatron was camed out under my dn‘ecuon in pursuance Of PFOVlSlDHS in Artlcle 154(1) Of the T
L i : Constltutlon of the Democratlc SOClallSt Repubhc of Sn Lanka read in conjuncthﬂ Wlth Sectlo :

13(1) Of the Fmance Act No 38 of 1971 and Sectlon 19 of the Natlonal Instltute of Educatlon Act'-'-'-

.\ -.__"No 28 of 1985 My cornments and observatrons Wthh I consu;ler should be publlshed w1th the
IS Annual Report of the Inst1tute 1n terms of Sectlon 14(2)(0) of the F Inance Act appear 1n tI'ns report

12 Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

L '. _Management 1s responsrble for the preparatlon and fan- presentatlon of these ﬁnanmal o
' :_--statements in accordance with. Srr Lanka Pubhc Seetor Accountmg Standards and for such "
'_ :mternal control as the management determines. is’ necessary to enable the preparatlon of

- '.'ﬁnanmal statements that are free from materral mlsstatements whether due to fraud or CFTOF, _' s
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1.3 Auditer’s Respons'_ibility'

My responsrbﬂrty is to express an opinion on these ﬁnanelal statements based on my

..'audlt I conducted ~my audit in accordance w1th SI’I Lanka Audttlng Standards
-cons1stent ‘with Internatlonal Audltlng Standards of Supreme Audrt Inst1tut1ons
(ISSAI 1000-1810). Those Standards requlre that I comply with ethlcal requlrernents -
'and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about Whether the = -~

financial statements are free from lnaterlal rmsstatements

" -'An audlt 1nvolves performmg procedures to obtam audlt ev1dence about the amounts
B and dtsclosures in the ﬁnanelal statements The procedures selected depend on the
_' audltor s Judgement mcludmg the assessment of nsks of matenal m1sstatements of
. the financral statements whether due o fraud or error In makmg those rlsk'_

o -'_;'assessments the aud1tor cons1ders mternal control relevant ‘to thie Instrtute sl

: _..preparat:lon and falr presentatlon of ﬁnanmal statements m order to desrgn aud1t 3 e

cu"umstances but not for the purpos' o

."-_-.lefipfessmg. aﬂ OPIHI ) _'..:on the effectlveness of the Instltute s 1nternai control An aud1t-_"_. SRR
) :_-:a,lso 1ncludes evaluatmg the appropnateness of accountmg pohcles used and the' | S

. _- reasonableness of account:lng est:unates made by management as we]l as evahmtl ng 3

S _'_'the overall presentatron of ﬁnancral statements Sub-seetlons (3) and (4) of the B
L Flnance Aet No 38 of 1971 glve dlscretlonary powers to the Audltor General to. o

- determme the scope and extent of the audlt

. I beheve that the aud1t ev1dence I have obtamed Is sufﬁment and approprlate to_ s

' provrde a ba51s for my audlt oprmon

1 4 Bas-ls for Quallfied Opmton :

o My 0p1111011 18 qualrﬂed based on the matters descr1bed in paragraph 2. 2 of tlns report

L SR
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2. Financial Statements

2.1  Qualified Opinion

~ In my opinion, except for the effects 'of the rnatters described in paragraph 2.2 of this

report the fi nanc1al statements g1ve a true and fair v1ew of the financial posmon of the
Natlonal Instltute of Educa’non as at 31 December 201 7 and its financial perfonnance )
and cash flows fer the year then __ended in accordance with Sri _Lanka Public Sector

Accounting Standards.

. 2.2 .'Comments on F lnanclal Sta’tements E

) 221 'Sn Lanka Publlc Sector Accountmg Standards

 The f'oupwi.ng.obseifvﬁaﬁonéiee'méﬁé;

Fund and Employees Trust Fund totallmgﬂf_'--..::.'-:"'-__._-

' Rs 7, 188 2'13_ and Rs s 889 405 respectlvely relatmg to. 09 precedmg years o s
: '_'had been brought to account as an expendlture of the year: under rev1ew -
o 1nstead of bemg adJusted to the Accumulated Fund As such the surplus of the PR
.' :'year under rev1ew had been understated by Rs 81 077 618 and it Was observed . .
- . .that thc consmtency and comparablhty Was not apparent 111 the ﬁnanclal__'.":__-_:-_"'-‘:._:'- e
..-..statements of the years 2016 and 2017 due to fatlure in 1dent1fy1ng expenses in- -

. .due perlod

b s Lankaéif’ubﬁc Seét;o’rA.¢'¢oﬁ-ﬁtin'gi=3tan'dérd 2

. The followtng deﬁmenmes Were observed m respect of the cash ﬂow'l: e
o ._-statement o | o
(i) - Accordmg to the ﬁnanc1a1 statements of the year under rev1ew the
- "-acqulsltlon of property, plant and equ1pment had been Rs 46 089 932. |
- 'Nevert_heles_s, accordmg 16 th_e cash-ﬂ_ow statemnent, that value-had been

. R524,421,41 6, thus understating the cash_out_ﬂow by Rs.21,668,516.
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(i) Even though a sum of Rs 114,177 had been shown as incredses in other
| -current assets in- the worklng cap1tal changes of the cash ﬂow
" statement, such an ass_et had not been shown in the staterhent of _

financial position.

() The changes of short term dep051ts had been understated by .
 Rs.54, 227 194 in the eash flow statement durmg the year | |

: (iv)'. The i increases in accrued expendlture in the changes of worktng caprtal_ |

.'of the cash ﬂow statement had been understated by Rs. 37 467 998

v Losses ﬁom sale of propefty, plant and equlpment had been overstated A
. .._lby RS 1 299 765 in operatmg act1v1tles of the cash ﬂow statement e

G LkanhSctAugStdd 7o R

In tenns f paragraph 47 of the Standard when the falr value of an asset )

.-._matenally dlffers frorn its: carrymg amount those assets should be revalued -
_ Nevertheless, actlon had not been taken after the year 2008 to revalue the' -
- assets of the Instltute valued at Rs 1 1?5 9?5 418 and to account 1ts fair Value -

o (d) _' SnLanka PuhllcSector AccountmgStandard 9

: :.iIn terms of paragraph 15 of the Standard mventones shall- be measured at the. - R
.' lower of cost and net reahzable value Nevertheless the mventory balance had ' S

.. - been shown as Rs 24 498 345 under sales pnce m the ﬁnancral statements

2.2.2- A_cc'o:unt__injg__Defibiénc_iés -

: _The followiné obs"ervations are' ma'de.'

(a) A sum of Rs 50 000 000 mvested in ﬁxed dep051ts had been brought to account N
as an’ expend1ture and as suchg the balance of ﬁxed depos1ts and the surplus had




ke Bndm mbices

ﬁ Gndw memibamlsy SIGIAGHLE
1 NATIONAEL AUD[T OFFI.CIE

o T LT eET Y PR 2 i - E T P S CNAOSL T

been understated by the. similar amount as at 31 -December of the year under

TeVIEW.

. (b) Off ice equlpment valued at Rs.169, 000 received as a grant in the year under

review had not been brought to account.

o N (c) Gratulty expendkture of Rs.5 547 436 paid durmg the year under review had been- _
deblted to the Gratulty Expenditure Account instead of bemg deblted to the
Provmon for Gratulty Account As such the surplus of the year under revrew had
been understated and the balance of the Provrsron for Graturty Account had been

' overstated by the 51m1]ar amount

-'_'_'(d) The 1nterest on Treasury b1lls of Rs 6 418 346 brought to. account durmg the year . -
o under rev1ew had been brought to. account agam as a Treasury mterest recelvable R

- a8 at 31 December of the year 2017 As such the surplus of the year under rev1ew'_' SRR

jand the Jnterest rncome recelvable had been overstated by the snnllar amount SR

' _.'--'fj_'}_(e) The expendlture amountmg to Rs 2 344 710 that should be caprtalrzed under_ L
burldrngs and a sum of Rs 26 656 147 spent for the purchase of maelnnery had

been Shown as expendlture on malntenance L

o .'.-:.(f) Even though the expendrture on. constructlon of South Asran Teacher Tramrng | K
| Centne in- Meepe had been capltalized under bulldmgs in the year 2016 the' R
consultancy fees amountlng to Rs 603 235 payable for that bu1ldn1g had been

' . shown under work--m- progress even by the end, of the year under rev1ew mstead.- .

of belng caprtahzed

223 'ﬁun}-;e;:_a'néiléd epn;tmmccma

o '.-Unreconcrhatrons totallmg Rs. 37 957 303 were: observed between the balances shown_

: __1n the ﬁnancral statements and the balances in ledger aecounts reIatlng to 02 Iterns of

_ | :-Accounts
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224 _' ‘Unexplained Differences

An’ unexpl-ailjed difference totalling" Rs.58, 341,508 was observed between the
. balances indicated in ﬁnanc1a1 statements and the balances of schedules made

| _ avallable fo Alldlt relatinig to 04 accounts as at 31 December of the year under TEVIEW.

225 * Lack of Evidence for Audit

: Th-é -follonri_ng observations are made.

(a) _Even though an amount of Rs 73 609 665 forecasted as course fees pa1d in
| advance as at 31 December 2017 had been shown in accounts adequate'___-
o -ev1dence for the conﬁrmatron of that balance had not been rnade avallable to L

) Aud.lt

A :ph_ tocopy rnaehlnes hbrary books and funnture Valued at Rs 514 112 042 .

""'hacl not been mentroned As such the amount cf deprec1at10n of those assets C
'_ _and the accuracy of computatron of accumulated deprematlon could not be

o ascertamed

- (c)- . '_:"-Cash books for recelpts and payments relat:mg to 05 current accounts had been._ - ..
B o _'mamtalned separately Even though the monthly total rece1pts cf recelpt cash': S
- E _.books ancl dally cash balances of payment cash books can be obtamed 1t was: A 3
= | .observed that balances at the end of the month cannot be obtamed Moreover S
o ; the monthly closmg balance cannct be obtamed by addmg monthly recelpts to”' L
the 1n1t1a1 cash balance and deductlng monthly payments through the computer o
- .system of the Inst1tute Even though a cash balance of Rs 468 696 829 Was' -
:'_ .'avallable in each account as at 31 December 2017 these balances could not be ’ '

o _conﬁrmed wnh the balances of cash book
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2.2.6 Accounts Receivable and Payable

The folloWir_lg observations are made
(a) A sum of Rs. 3, 237,800 receiV'abl'e fro’ni the Ministry of Education in respect' of
o prmtmg of school based evaluatron questron papers of the . year 2008 was - "

recoverable since the year 2008

B (b) _Deposrts payab]e totalllng Rs. 1 574 603 older than 05 years had not been S

- . 'settled or taken 1nto mcome

- ;(c) .. ACtIOIl had not been taken even In the current year to. recover the balance of
: Rs 393 500 recoverable over a penod of many years mcluded in the sunclry._" 3 o

debtors balance o

L (d) o ACt:Lon had not. been taken even by the end of the year under revrew ¢ to settle a: B

- fsum of Rs 5 027 588 out of advances grven for workshops eonductecl m the

_years 2016 and 2017 and tranSport and other advances amountmg tO

i Rs 4 072 955 a.nd general advances ofRs 60 431 oIder than 05 years R

23 Non-eomphance w1thLaws, Rules,RegulatlonsandManagement Decision'_s R

:'_The follomng non—comphances w1th Laws Rules Regulatlons and Management ; AT

Decwlons Were observed

Reference to Laws, Rules and U Non-compllances
Regulatlons ' ' S L

@ Ciroular No. 2004/L1/1(2016
" _-revrsed) of 22 December
. 2016°0f the Natlonal Lrbrary _
‘and Documentatlon Serv1ces -
Board ' '
'. Sectron 31 _ o A survey on llbrary books had not been carrled
' S _ out and accord.mg to the survey on llbrary

books earned ot by the " L1brary from - 7 S
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Novernber 2015 to 12 May 2016, a number of-
11,642 dlsposable books had been identified.
-'Nevertheless action had not been taken to
d.xspose of those books

(b) Public - Finance Clreular _ In granting Sub- Jmprests (Advances) exceedlng
~ No. 03/2015 of 14 July 2015 | the value of Rs.1,000,000, the prior approval of B
' | _-__'the Treasury should be obtained in terms of the_ .'
- C1rcular However a sum of Rs.2,661,303 had .
" been granted as sub-lmprests wrthout obtammg _
: such approval a.nd mstances of re—grantmg of |
P sub- 1mprests were observed before settlmg the L
’ ._..'prevmus sub Imprest | R )
(C) .Fmancral Regulatlons of the_" : : _
. Democratic . Socialist . .
"='Repubhc of Sn Lanka:--_' FACTR R s

_. () Flnanc:lal Regulatlon_.-:__' ::':_'In the purchase of Goods matters such
. 716(2) | o '-'rehablhty of supply a d speed of delwery o
S o _should be taken mto ' cons1derat10n g
_ | Nevertheless 21 Goods Valued at Rs.-3' .8_8 687
o .ordered from May to December 2017r had not";' g |
. _been recelved to the Instltute even by the date of ) _
| 'alldlt ' S
'_'(11) Fmancral Regulatlon A blackhst of suppllers 1nclud1ng names of _
705(5) - _"."defalﬁtmg contraetors had not been mamtamed i ._
R . ‘;bythe Instltute i ' AL ;
(d) * Public Enterptises Circular
- ‘No. PED 1/2015 of 25 May'
: 2015 :

'_-Sec_t_lon 35 . The officers to whom official- '\\-fe_hieles'_'_ are
o | . alloeate'd an'd the officers ‘who avail the monthly
'_-transport alIowance are not entitled to use pool P )

S or other ofﬁmal Vehleles However an ofﬁcer of L




the Institute, who avail the monthly transport
- allowance, had used a pool vehicle in- 11
instances and the Institute had incurred a cost on

fuel amounting 1o Rs.l 35,345 therefor.

3 - Fina;n.cia'.l"Rey_iew"

31  Financial Results -

According 't"o the financial -statementS preSented the t"urancial result .o'f the Institute for o
the year ended 31 December 2017 had been a surplus of Rs. 82 516 985 as compared'- .
. :w1th the cerrespondmg surplus of Rs 37, 792 759 for the precedmg year thus o
- mdlcat:lng an 1mprovement of Rs 44 724 226 in the ﬁnanmal result of the year under_
| 'rev1ew as’ compared w1th the precedmg year ‘Even though the expenses of the year : -
___mcreased by Rs 279 066, 9 13 as compared w1th the precedlng year_._::_-. L

.-the mcome from deposﬂs by Rs 115 131 191 and the exammatron fees . : . o

_._ﬁby Rs 182 522 154 had mamly attrlbuted to the above 1mprovement 3'_ -

- A An analys15 of the ﬁnancrai results for the year under reV1ew and 04 precedmg years ' .' :
- .. revealed that the surplus whtch was Rs 36, 1496, 150 in the year 2013 had Inc Teased up.
: _ ._'..'-to Rs 15? 631 150 in the year 2015 However it had decreased up to Rs 37 792 759 m Lo
‘ the “year 2016 and agaln Increased up to- Rs 82 516, 985 in. the year uncler review. A
' '._'.However, aﬂer readjustment of the employees remunerahon and the depreelatmn on B '
: _' o property, plant and equrpment to the ﬁnancnal result the- contrrbut:lon of the Instltute_.;-'_._ -
o - :whlch was Rs 257 724 220 111 the year 2013 had 1ncreased to Rs 464 705 488 as at: the ' '.
| _' - end ofthe year 2015 Further it had decreased to Rs 371 ,685, 653 in the year 2016 and; o _ L
R agam mcreased to Rs 404 042 6’}’0 in the )’ear under revrew ' ST T

.32 An-alytifc_al::Fi:h_a-ncial_; Review

In cons1der1ng the worklng capltal managernent of the Instltute the current ratlo :
'_Whlch was. 4 7‘:1 1n the precedmg year had been 3, 7 1i 11‘1 the year under rev1ew whilst _' _
. 3:'rat1o of 4, 3 1 m the precedmg year had been 3 5: 1 1n the year under . R
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review. The Treasury Bonds and the balances of the Bank Current Accounts
-represented 88 per cent of the Current Assets and as such, a large amount of assets of

| the Institute had been retamed in hquld assets. Out of 5 Bank Accounts of the
Instltute, the balance of ‘0ne. account as at 31 December 2017 amounted to Rs.298

' mllhon and the current and qurck rat1os had taken a high value due to rnamtenance of
Such balances exceedmg ‘the requlrements makmg short tenn investments and the 3

B -ex1s_tenee ofa sto_ck balanc_e value__d &t Rs.36 million.

33 Leg‘al: A'ctlon Instituteﬂ agains_t.or.by .the"I_nstitute

The following obse_wams: are mad'e. )

| .-(a) The Inst:ltute had ﬁled 03 cases in the Dlstnct Court claunmg compensatlon '
totalhng Rs 4 481 538 111 respect of breachmg agreements by 03 off cers who had' .

o pr'_'"' eeded abroad f academrc puxposes

se m respect of obtammg a Teacher Trammg Certlficate and 11 cases had

K .been ﬁled by 10 employees in courts clmmmg compensatlon of Rs 927 091 in e
: -_respect of non payment of gratulty 1ncludmg the cost of llvmg allowance '
- 'However necessary d1sclosures regardmg the cases on paymcnt of gratulty had 'f:-:.__ '

..not been made in. the fmanc1al statements

4 Operating Review

41 Performamce . .

© 411 Funetion a'.i-diméw .

"-Accordmg to the Natlonal Inst.ltute of Educatlon Act No: 28 of 1985 the formulatlon :
o of planned programmes for the development of educatlon in Sn Lanka, conduct and

'- promot:ton of stuches on, the educatlon system mcludmg its performance goals

-. structures content and methodology and in socml econormc and other mtended

urposes prov1de for the development of professnonal and managenal competence of -
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“personnel in the education system and providing postgraduate-_stu.di_es are its major
objectrves | | ._ ' |
Even though an Action Plan had been prepared relatmg to the achievement of above |
objectrves for the year under review, those plans had not been properly implemented
and it was further- observed that it may directly affect the learmng process of the. _
: overall school chddren of Sri Lanka Detarls appear helow o

' -.._(i) . Even though a number of 22,725 professmnals of the educatlon ﬁeld had been
: _p]anned to. be tralned through 49 knowledge and sktlls development

: 3programmes only 15 743 persons had been tralned

_ | (11) . _Even though IO Depart:ments had planned to prepare Teachers Gurdes for 48 e
- _': Subjects those hand books had not been prepafed for 29 Sub_]GCtS | .

| : (111) Eve”. though 1t had been pIanned to prepare and COmplete the resource books_:_‘i_;_:.-'.-*

o re_ trng to 30 subjects, those books relat:mg fo. 25 subJects had not been- '; e

o f'prepared and completed as planned

S 42 -Management Actlvmes o

N In terms of Clrcular No 257 of 09 October 2013 of the Depart:ment of Management:
._ _--Ser\nces, earmngs made in addttlon to the salary of the. oﬁicers should not exceed 50
© per cent of therr annual basic’ saIary However contrary to that crrcular, a sum of'.'." ;
o Rs. 4 SOI 586 had been overpatd as extra earnmgs to 43 oﬂ'rcers exceedmg 50 per_.'_ :
B :cent of thelr salary from the year 2014 o the end of the year under revrew and actton : _' o

- -had not been tal{en up to Aprﬂ 201 8 to recover those overpayments

o 43 _ Operatmg Actlvmes

(a) The foIlowmg ebservatrons are made on the preparatton of syllabuses

(i) o --_Scrence Sub)ect - Grades 6,11 -

o f?New syllabuses for the Sclence subject had. been mtroduced m the year

o :._-"2015 for Grades 6, 10, in the year 2016 for Grades 7,11 in the year 2017
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for Grades 8, 12 and in the year 2018 for Grades 9, 13. However, evidence
that functions which should be perforr_n_ed before the revision of those
. syllabuses, had been performed and they had been based for the revision of

syllabuses.

'(ii) ' Syl]abuses of Chermstry, Physrcs and Blology for Advanced Level Grades "
' 12, 13 ' o S _

Accordrng to the P'lan of Ilhp‘l'el'nentatioa of S}fllabuses 2012-2020; hevv
| syllabuses relatlng to those subjeets should have been m:nplemented in the-.'
years 2017 and 2018 respectlvel_v Accordmgly, the Coungil and the Board-'_ -
of Academlc Affarrs had approved those syllabuses on 15 December 2016 S
L and 08 November 2016 However neglectlng those approvals the sa:td.- .' _
RN ._syllabuses had been reconmdered by the Letter No. ED!OU 14/05/02 of 21 o i
o ":February 2017 of the Secretary to the Mmrstry and agam those syIlabuses B
B had _been approved on, 14 November 2017 However teachlng actmtles of R

- }':Grade \2: had been commenced m May 2017 d a number of 3 457 |
___-__-__--:Teachers had been tramed m May and August of the year 201 7 by

o spendmg Rs 3 655 207 pr10r to makmg relevant rev1srons therem and as

_ -such At was questtonable Whether they were aware of those revrslons :

o .-Further, the content had not changed due to those reVISlons and as. a result :' RN

R was questronable whether the tlme spent therefor and the expendlture of S
| Rs 354 450 mcurred therefor had been effect:lve Moreover, provldmg R :

..-_.-__.:opportunl’fy for maklng Teachers aware of syllabuses by Pl'eparmg | -

o gyllabuses wrthout delay and opportumty for studymg the ac Ourate R

8 yllabuses Were observed in audxt as essent1a1 matters that should be '

B '.-carrled out,

_.(_ii.i_-) Informatlon and Commumcahon Technology Sub_lect and General

_Informatlon Technology Sub_]ect

| LI Accordmg to the Letter No ED!01f26f'19f01f02 of 14 February -
_' -2012 of the Secretary to the Mmlstry of Educanom a proposal had
| .been made for the 1nclusron of a new sub_;ect of Informahon and

" -."-'Communlcatron Technology from Grade 6 to Grade 9 Moreover

ik ._._3,]'_ .
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the Internet of Things (IOT) had been included as a subject umt of
‘the new syllabus for this subject However, the Board of Academlc
Affairs had informed i in January 2017 that the teaching of this unit
for the students who follow this subject at the first time, is not

_ approprlate and that the syllabus should be changed as the standard_
of ‘this. unit is hlgher than the. level of students Revision and._'l
approval of this syllabus had been delayed up to the end of the year.
2017 and as such preparatron of relevant text books or eonductmg -
'tramlngs for Teachers for teachmg the subject had not been camed'

. -out even by January 2018

. _Conductmg workshops for preparatlon of syllabuses for R
- _Informatlon and Commumcatron Technology for Grade 12 an d for ol

. __'General Informatton Technology for Advanced Level had been S

enced in the ‘year 2015 and completed by March 2016,

_.iF-urther, .urorkshops for preparat:ton of ﬁnal draft syllabuses, had
. "_-;been conducted from December 2016 to 16 February 2017
R 'Accordmg to-the Decision No 366 dated 07 March 2017 of the -
- Board- of Academlc Affalrs 1t had been decnded that the IOT"_'_
o Subject unlt 1s not appropnate 10. school syllabuses However PO
) contrary to that Dee1s1on that subject umt had been meluded and_'- |
_. .' _-'approvai had been glven for syllabuses by the Dec1s1on No 413_._ e
dated 20 Aprll 2017 of the Counc11 | o

e -' A Three Persons Com:tmttee cons1stmg of three professors and-‘.ﬁ o
| __ .'lecturers of umversmes had been appomted by the Dec1sron'_".'__'. e
o No 376 dated 05 December 2017 of the Board of Academrc Affalrs )
| for obtammg recommendatrons .on the computer proJect and "
' .computer language mcluded newly to- the syllabus of Grade 13
_ Even though the teachmg of T.hlS syllabus had. been commenced for
.G C.E. (AIL) students in the school system, further rev1s1ons had
_been macle for thls approved syllabus and as such it was observed

" -“m audrt that the students who are due to srt for the_
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- G.C.E(Advanced Level) Examination in the year 2019 may have

to face problems thereon

Preparation of Syllabuses'relating to Religions

All actmt:les such as. preparatlon of syllabuses of Buddhlsm Buddhlst :
C1v1hzat10n Chrlstlanlty, Cathohc CiVlllZ&thIl for each re11g1on_
conductmg Workshops translating them, ' preparation of reports and'

Teachers Gmdes, are camed out by the same officer and as such it Was_-

'observed in audit that the accuracy of those syllabuses prepared was

questlonable

New Syﬂab“s "f‘-:":'f C-‘.".‘i_“?“ﬂi.éﬁﬁ‘.."ﬂ .ﬂﬁd.mdﬂi Studies

o

L g Accordmg to the Demsmn No 417 dated 17 August 2017 of the Councﬂ . :.;'_. Y

and the Teachers Gulde for the subJect of Commumcat" _"nf- o

S 'and Mecha Studles for Grade 12 had been prepared and approved Even-._' e

._'-"'though the sald syllabus hacl been scheduled 0. be. nnplemented in’ the’
- years 20173’2018 the Director General of the Instltute had mformed the . EE
| -Secretary to the Mnnstry of Educatlon to 1ssue a c1rcu1ar for the-_i - -
_ "lrnplementatmn of the old syllabus 1tself which was mtroduced 1n the year_ - _
: 2008 accordmg to the proposals of the Board of Acadernlc Affalrs on the.:.
' ._Level of Bench Markmg, at the Advanced Level Exannnatmn as well in.
_the year 2019 However a c1reu1ar had not been 1ssued therefor and ) .
_'eVIdence as. well was not observed whether the schools were aware of the:'_: _. ' ) '
_.syllabus whlch 1s based for teachrng act1v1t1es of students who s1t for the _' S
.' Advanced Level Exammatlon in- the year 2019 and as such, 1t was further': : o

' observed m audlt that 1t seerns unfarr on students who sit for the Advanced .

Level Exa_l_nlnatlon 1n.the year 2019. -
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(b) '. Delay in commencmg and improper orgamzatlon of Teacher Training

Programmes

‘The sy_llabus of Information an_d -Communica_tion Technology and the General
;In'format'ion' Technolog_‘/ approved “in -April 2017 was scheduled to be
R comrnenced wrthm the school System in May 2017. However Teacher
trammgs had not been commenced even by then and out of 2,223 Teachers to
‘bé trained, only 1, 023 teachers had been trarned after 3 months of
..cornmencement of that subject in the school system. Further, teachers had
been selected by calhng for- apphcatlons by 1nternet wuhout callmg for' '
_ teachers requrred for tralnmgs by the provmce of- the zone As sueh, it was
T observed in audrt that the unawareness of teachers on the said t:rammg due to-_ .
L :-'.:-:. B Iack of mtemet and computer facrllt:les and mablllty to obtaln tra:lnlngs relatmg B

. -'_3j""-to these sub_]ects, by teaehers Who are. in schools wrth llmrted fa0111t1es in Sn SR

Lanka 1s unfalr on these students and teachers -'

© -.(';oilaj__i.'_:'ti_n'g_- and Admi__iiistf;it'ian a_f'E_xahlihatiqns” .

(1) Imp]ementatlon of recommendatrons of the Prehmmary Invest1gat10n.
o __'_-_Report pertammg to the ﬁ‘aud comrnltted at the ﬁnal exanunatlon of the , o
- Master of Educatron 2010/201 I; had been’ approved by the Estabhshment ._ N
Councﬂ Decmon No 4050 dated 28 June 2013. Accordlngly, it had been .. e
.mentroned that the Course Coordlnators and Lecturers should be released_. o
N "from dutres such as preparattton of questlon papers and exannnatron of
answer scrrpts and those functrons should be performed by qualrﬁed_ v
_'persons 1n the Instrtute and in another parallel tnstltutlon However_ g
__--:preparatlon of questton papers and exalmnatlon of answer scnpts had
| '-been camed out by the Course Lecturers up to 31 May 2018 and as sueh '
o it Was observed in- audtt that the conﬁdenttahty ‘and transparency of

: exammatlons are questlonable

- '-'_(i_i') The Estabhshment Count:ll had approved the recomrnendatlons glven by
L the sa1d mvestlgatron report for the preparatton of a more accurate and

o stnct Instructlon Manual of Exammatron ds there are shortcommgs in the. .
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draft Instruction Manual of Examination dated 31 December 2000 issued

_-by the Institute pertammg to conductmg of exanunattons Even though 18 |
Work-shops had been held from the year 2013 up to now for the

~ preparation of a proper Ihstruction Manual of Examination steps had not

| ‘been taken up to 31 May 2018, the date of, audit, to prepare it.
Accordmgly ‘ofganization of exammatlons preparatlon of questton
papers and evaluatlon of answer scrrpts and - admnnstratron of
exammatlons are not camed out in accordance wrth a formal legal frame

- 50.as 10 protect the confidentiality and rehabtltty As such 1rregular1t1es '
of exammatrons ancl Vtolatton of rules ef exammatlons may occur and it B
was further observed that there is an 1mp0551b111ty of taklng legal actlon in

: 'that connectton '

(m) Four exammattons planned in the year under revrew had not been _

conducted and out ef 19 exammatlons condUcted dunng the year 2017 e

resul 570
Further over a pertod of one year had elapsed to 1ssue results relatmg to_'_;'_':' R

f 08 exammahons hacl not. been 1ssued even by Aprll 2018 L

08 examrnat:lons conducted m the years 201 5!20 1 6

"Mamtammg a Database System relatmg to the Educatlon Leadershlp"..-._- ST

A centrahzed database system had not been operated 50 as to ﬁnd out : o

o mformatron that the Degrees and D1ploma Courses conducted by the Instltutc e

: were completed Moreover, mformatton that the pupll teachers who had o

regrstered for vartous Degrees and Courses, had completed those courses and o

courses completed by repeatmg exammatrons were not avallable 1n the

Institute.

By W
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{e) Researches and Development Activities

(1) Even though pohcy research on education should be conducted for future
development activities connected with cu.rrlcula development and
professional develcpment lmple_ment_e_d. -w1_th_ ‘a- _Vlew to. prov1d1ng_ a
qualitative edncation for children mthe country, such researches had not
.. been conducted and evaluatlons had not been camed out in 06 out of 07 '.

" researches conducted from the year 2014 to the year 2017.

' _(ii)-: Acco._rdin‘_g .to the --_Plan of i.mbl'ern_entation of curricula, attention h’ad_nOt
| béen pa1d on stddleS' 'carrie;d_ aut in.-respe'ct :of: 'i__rnplementati'on_of existing |
' curricular m the s'chbcl System before- makmg 'changes and -'developnients N - '.
* once in 8 years prov1dmg comrnents glven by varlous soc1a1 groups and_l B
'-.:'.new knowledge added to each subject areas and useful researches on -

_-l'_.teach.tng methods, to each Department of the Instltute and ccnductlng_.'._-\f RO

. researches by seiectlng t1mer research t0p1cs on educat:lon and make

R -.--aware of those researches on due perlods

_ Accordmg to the plan of nnplementatlon of cumcula from the year 2012 to the _‘1 '_
_ -'year 2020 the new curnculum should be 1mplemented for Grades 11. and 12in B . B ;_:7 :
. -.the years 2016 and 2017 respectlvely and Teachers Gmde contalnlng' ._:

._ .syllabuses prepared relatmg thereto, should be prov1ded to teachers before _. . -
o comrnencmg teachlng actlv1t1es of those subjects However only preparatlon -
_':: .and approval of syllabuses and Teachers Guldes relatmg 10 certaln subjects
- had been camed out by the Instltute m the year 2017 and actron had not been
| 'taken even by 31 January. 2018 to prlnt softcoples for 14 subJects Even though

- __-the teachlng should be commenced accordmg to the new syllabus of
' G. C E. (Advanced Level) in the year 201?r it was observed in audit that non- |

N receipt of Te_achers Guldes to teachers is a hindrance to_proper education.
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. (g)  Examination on the Cafeteria

The Iris.tj-tute_had maintained a cafet_eri'a with 09 cooks and the income and the
total expenditure _t_"hereo-f. m _the ‘year _20_17 had been R_s-.8,3 '?'5_,309 and_
© Rs.14,365423 tespectively. An expenditure of Rs.5,990,114 had been
“incurred eXceeding the Iin.come ‘received by _suppiying' “food _ahd it was '- L
observed that the r_naintaining of a cafeteria incur'ring over expenditure is not |
| effective. Fﬁrther a number of 17,897 meals for breakfast, 33, 774 for lunch
. and 14,095 for dmner ordered from the cafeterla had been rejected and. it was' |
observcd that the cafeterra had falled to- supply orders placed for food by the ) o o

: Instltute

4 Underutmzatmn of Funds

The followmg observatlons are_made 2 SR

(a) A sum of Rs 3 787 500 had_b_ T epent ‘as. the prmtmg cost m the year 2016 for

o prmtmg of IO 000 coples of the Collect.lon of Practlcmg Questron Papers of g

'.;Grade 16 m Smha[a and Tarml Medrum and 3 000 copies of the collect1on of i e
._'ReV1sron Question Papers of Grade 11 in Enghsh Medrum prepared by the_-:

'_ :Department of Mathematlcs Even though over a perlod of ¢ one year- had elapsed :

therefor by 31 December 2017 ho books Whatsoever had been prrnted and

dlstnbuted to schools o

(b) Even though a sum of Rs 8 750 OOO had remamed in the Research and" e e
Development F und since the year 2011 these funds had not been utllrzed up to e
31 December 2017 e N o : e A

(c) Provrslon of R~s 15, 400 (}00 had been made for a Fund under the Department of -
' Forergn Affatrs and Trade (DFAT!AUSAID) of the Governmcnt of Austraha in’ '_ o
_the year 2014 for the compllatton and prmtmg of 6 books on Sources for "
: -Resources of selected subjects of the General Cemﬁcate of Educatlon (Advanced

Le_vel_)_. Eyen_thou_gh a__pe_rl_od_o__t_f 4 y.ears had elapsed after making such_provl_s_ton, C
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the funds had remained underutilized up to the year under review due to failure in

.pri_ntin.g those b’.ooks._

(DIt was observed  that eash' balances ranging from Rs.36,934,387 to
Rs.313 682 200 had been retalned In a current account from January to December

- of the- year under review wrthout bemg utilized for the 1ntended purposes of the _
Institute.

4.5 Uncconomrc Transactions

'_In terms of Agreements the total electr1c1ty b111 of the milk bar mamtamed by the -
_ .-_Inst:[tute and 50° per cént. of the electrrc1ty bill of the canteen of the- Centre -for
_' ---Educatlon Leadershlp Development at Meepe should be pald by the . contractor. )
- _ .However electrlmty charges amountmg to Rs. 136, 312 and Rs. 108,550 relatmg to the'.
canteen and the mllk bar respectrvely for the' year 2017 had not been recovered from A _

TN the contractor

s '-".Sft'faff-Aiimiﬁ'iét_fafiﬁ.ﬁ* =

' :._The appmved cadre and the actual cadre as at 31 December of the year 2017 stood at
652 and 452 respectrvely, thus 1nd1cat1ng 200 Vacanmes and 24 excess cadre and the

| followrng observatlons are made m that connectlon .

) '(a) The approval for the staff had been obtarned for the Iast t1me in the year 201 I aﬁer o _
~ the year 2007 and it had been 646 and 652 respectlvely Even though the role of the' . E
Institute had been greatly expanded from the year 2007 to the year 2018 the staff-'_' FR
had not been revrsed As such it was observed that functlons of many d1v151ons -

) 'could not be performed in an optlmum manner

| - .(b) The number of oﬂ'lcers/employees who were: 1n serv1ce 1n the same branch of the
Inst1tute for a penod between 05 and 26 years had been 69 and it was observed m' '
aucht that non-preparanon of a proper procedure for mternal transfers between

branches mthm the Instltute adversely affects the internal control of the Inst1tute

FENT R
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) _':_.hbrarles(Eg lerarles be]ongmg to. Umversmes whlch are, under purv1ew of the

o Umvers1ty Grants Comn’ussmn and the Colombo Pubhc lerary) Moreover 1t was R
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(¢) Even though newspaper advertisements had been published for the recruitment of

28 posts. du-ri'ng the year 2017, no recruitments had -been made for : 12 posts.

(d) Even though 11 oﬁ"icers -had been approved for the library, it was observed that o
| only 05 officers are in service by April 2:01_8. Moreover,-_ posts such as Director of
' Library, Assistant Librari-an , Library Assistant and Manaslgernent Assistant had been
Vacant from many years and as such, it was observed that mamtammg dally

. act1v1t1es of the lerary which comprised of 05 d1v1srons Was quesnonable

(e) In the recrultment of ofﬁcers for the post of lerary Assrstant III accordmg to the. o
| _ Scheme of Recru:[tment of the Instrtute the: 03 year Drploma Course on lerary o
'-Informatlon Sclence should be completed However it ‘was. further observed that\..{':

- the complenon of ﬁrst exammatlon of the Dlploma Course on Lrbrary Informanon

'Smenee is consndered as an adequate quahﬁcatlon for the satd post m other 81mllar" s

| | "observed that thrs weakness in the Scheme of Recrmtment had been the reason for : :
the post of L1brary Ass1stant bemg Vacant smce the year 2013 T

'U_til'iza'tian"-of_ﬁ nomvaiaa

In terms of Gu1de1me 9 3 I of the Procurement Guldehnes in. carrymg out repalrs to :_.-' L

motor vehlcles through a Iocal accredtted agent the Proeurement Entlty should be

: sat1sﬁed that the quotatlon is reasonable havmg taken 1nto account the economy of e

o "the repalr cost the age and condltlon of the motor vehlcles However 1t was observed" L

| _'_"that the Procurement Commlttee had repan'ed rnotor Vehlcles only through the local _' |

48

accredlted agents by mcumng a cost of Rs, 3 838 823 in 37 1nstances in the year 2017 -

w1thout consrdenng the economy of the repan‘ cost.

Idte or Underutrllzed ..A'ss_ets'

'_ -It was observed that the Goods valued at Rs 1 023 115 purchased at the request of B

BN '.
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“stores of the institute without being distributed to relevant divisions even b_y 30 May

2018, the date of audit.

5. Sustainable Devel.o'pment.'

- S.ll_ . A_c.hiev'em'el'_l_'t_of Sustafna_b-_le DeVelopmeut_Goals

Every Government Institution should act in terms of the 2030 “Agenda” of the United
Nations for Sustamab-le DeVeIopnrent and all Goyennnent institutions had been made '
* aware thereon by passing the Sustainable Development Act, No.19 dated 03 October
__201 7 and through olrculars However the Natlonal Instltute of Education had not been. _
- aware of the manner m 1mplementlng the fl.lllCthllS that come under its scope, relatmg_ _'
o to the year under rev1ew However actron had not been takerl to- 1dent1fy the'
= sustamable development goals targets relatlng to those functlons and focal pomts to - S

= reach those targets and 1nd1ces for measunng the achlevement of targets

ountability and Good Governance

The followmg :observations are made. o
(a) In terms of Guldelme 5 4 10 of the Government Procurement Guldellnes the'
performance securrtles had not been obtalned for procurements such as funnture' o

o and office equlpment Valued at Rs 4 492 613 and lecture hall chalrs and tables -
_ Valued at Rs 2 1 13 200 purchased in'the year under rev1ew ' '

' (b) The brddmg documents relatmg o the procurement of purchase of air cond1tloners_-.' N
Va]ued at Rs789 400 camed out 111 the year under rewew had not been made A
avallable to Audrt Further in terms of Gurdelme 6.2 of the Procurement

- Guldelmes at least a perrod of 07 clays should be gwen in adoptmg the shoppmg
L .';method Nevertheless alI procurement act1v1t1es such as ca]hng for quotatrons,'_ -
-,_:.submlsswn of blds by supphers, openlng bldS and awardmg bids relatmg to the
| '_ sald procurement had been carrred out on 28 December 2017. Even though it had

'-'been lnformed in wntmg that quotatlons should be subm]tted by registered post -
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contrary to Guideline 6.3 of the Procurement Guidelines, a b1d sent by a fax on 29
December 2017 had been: evaluated and aecepted as the wmmng bid.

'Budgetary COn-trol

_'Even though the budgeted eap1ta1 prowsron for the year under review -had been

Rs. 301 800 000 the aetual cap1ta1 expenchture had been Rs 118 948 846, thus

1ndrcat1ng a Vanance of Rs,182,851, 154 Moreover, variances rangrng from 14 per
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Explanatory Report on the Financial Statement of the National Institute of Education, for the
year ending 315 December 2017, as per Audit Report according to statement 14 (2) C Financial
Act 1971 - No. 38.

2.2. Comments on Financial Statements
2.2.1. Sri Lanka Public Accounting Standards :

(a) Sri Lanka Public Accounting Standard 01
Action will be taken to insert the journal notes in the comparability column in preparing the
accounts for the year 2018.

(b) Sri Lanka Public Accounting Standard 02

(i) Action will be taken to rectify the comparability column in preparing the final
accounts for the year 2018.

(i) The total of the values with reference to Nos 06 and 07 noted in the statement of
accounts for the year 2017 has been considered as current assets and the calculations
are done accordingly.

(iii) In doing the financial statements for the year 2018, Journal notes will be made,
corrections entered and presented in the comparability column. (2017 column)

(iv) In preparing the final accounts for the year 2018, action will be taken to correct the
comparability column.

(v) In preparing the statement of accounts for 2018, action will be taken to present the
income flow statement accurately in the comparability column. (year 2017)

(c) Sri Lanka Public Accounting Standard 07
An assessor Mr. L. Dasanayake has been selected for the task of revaluation of assets. He
has started his work in November 2018, and is scheduled to complete it in July 2019.

(d) Sri Lanka Public Accounting Standard 09
In the future the value of stock will be shown according to accounting standards in the
statement of accounts.

2.2.2. Shortcomings in accounting

(@) As a result of a computer error the short term fixed deposit account carries a journal entry
of the fixed deposit expenditure account and so the balance of the fixed deposit is shown as
Rs. 50,000,000 short. It will be rectified through a journal entry.

(b) A project worth Rs. 169,000/= received as a gift has not been accounted for. This will be
rectified in the 2018 accounts.

(c) Rs. Rs.
Provision for Gratuity 5,547,436.00
Accumulated fund 5,547,436.00

The 2018 accounts will be rectified through the above journal entry.

(d) The Treasury Bills that should have been received have been over identified as interest and
an erroneous note made to that effect; this will be rectified by a journal entry.
(e) The following will be corrected in the Financial Statements of 2018.
Rs. Rs.
(F) Fixed assets - Land building 603,235.00
Work in Progress 603,235.00
The errors in the accounts of the year 2018 will be rectified by the above journal entry.



2.2.3.Unadjusted administration accounts

This oversight has occurred in the transfer of final accounts. Action will be taken to rectify the
matter.

2.2.4.Unclarified changes

This change has occurred in the entering of information on the Excel Sheet, as the preparation
of schedules is not done through the computer system. Action will be taken to rectify the
matter.

2.2.5.Absence of evidence of auditing

(@) Action will be taken to obtain the required documents as evidence from the Teacher Education
Department, calculate the course fees paid in advance, and present them in the financial
statements.

(b) As these assets can be identified separately, the depreciation for the year has been calculated
by taking the initial net value of each asset, and the relevant depreciation percentage for each
asset. Where the net value is zero the calculation will come to a close. Therefore this
calculation is correct. When the revaluation that has been started in the year 2018 is
completed, this problem will be solved.

(c) This has been rectified by now.

2.2.5.Accounts to be received and paid.

(@ The sum of Rs. 3,237,799.66 due from year 2008 from the Ministry of Education for the
printing of evaluation question papers has been issued by the Ministry of Education on
31.12.2018. (Attachment 01)

(b) The contractors have been informed in writing to apply for the return of all deposits that have
exceeded five (5) years. All deposit monies not established so, will be credited to the income
of the year 2018, of the Institute.

(c) The written notice made in year 2017, for making the charges for these monies, has not had a
favorable response (attachment 02) Since the National Paper Company Limited has not made
any response regarding the payment of this money, the relevant institute has been informed that
it will be necessary to take legal action. (Attachment 03)

(d) Apart from the general advance of Rs. 60,431/= all other advances that have exceeded (05) five
years have been settled by now. A case is pending regarding the unsettled advance of
Rs. 60,431/=.

In getting an advance, the relevant officer will sign on the voucher certifying that the advance
taken earlier has been settled, then only will the advance be made. Therefore in the future such
instances will not occur.

2.3. Not abiding by the Management decisions and rules and regulations.

(@) National Libraries and Documentation Service Board. Circular 2004/LS/1 (Revised 2016)
of 2016 December 22, Clause 3.1

The survey report related to the 2015 - 2016 book is complete. According to that, the
recommendation of the library advisory committee has been obtained.

The library working staff is limited to six (06), and as there is not enough staff to attend to
elimination while attending to the daily work of the library, it has not been possible to attend to
it. An elimination committee has been appointed. The report on elimination has been
completed. Action will be taken accordingly.



(b) Public Finance Circular No. 03/2015, 14" July 2015.

Instructions have been given to get prior permission from the Treasury as per Finance
Regulations 03/2015 in situation when the sub adhoc imprest exceeds Rs. 100,000/=.

(c) The Financial Regulations of the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka.
(i) Financial Regulations 716 (2).
It is stated in the Audit Report that goods worth Rs. 3,888,687/= ordered from May to
December had not been received by the Institute even by the day of the audit. | wish to
state in this connection that the value of the goods according to what was stated in

attachment 03 of the Audit Query, referred to the Institute was Rs. 2,403,009.75.

Goods mentioned there in under order no. 6994, 6996, 6941, 6959, 6981 have already been
received at the stores.

Goods related to year 2017 under order numbers 6850, 6851, 6852, 6854, 6890, 6891,
6892, 6893, 6966, 6983 have not been received at stores. These orders have been
cancelled.

Goods under order number 6985, have been bought on an advance. Under order number
6957, what has been ordered is not a 1000 toners but a 1000 A3 photocopy paper packets.
On not supplying the goods this order has been cancelled.

The value of order no 6948 of the audit query is Rs. 4318/=. Number of items is 300. The
GRN has been issued only is respect of the quantity of goods provided by the supplier on
the orders.

(if) Financial Regulations 705 (5)

As per financial regulation 705 (5) the names of the suppliers who have defaulted the
contracts have been backlisted.

(a) Public Business Circular No. PED 1/2015 - 2015 May 25. Clause 3.5.
This is the only Director working with regard to Classical Languages, Foreign Languages and
the Bilingual Programme of the Ministry of Education. Therefore on call of service, training is
conducted in the rural areas making use of the services of external resource persons. This is an
especial situation therefore to conduct training workshops at provincial level this single officer
has had to make use of the vehicle in the reserve pool.
3. Financial Review

3.1. Financial outcome
| agree with the observation of the audit.

3.2. Analytical Financial Review
| agree with the observations of the audit.

3.3. Legal procedure initiated by the Institute, and against the Institute.

(a) Information about this case has been presented in the final accounts for the year 2017.



No 4801/05/Finance Mrs. Seneviratna Rs. 2,947,775/=.

The respondents 1%, 2", 3™ of this case are abroad. The fiscal has informed the judiciary his
inability to serve them summons. Therefore the case is on hold.

No 2320/16/M. Mrs. K.W.P.A. Weerawardane Rs. 198,497/=
District Courts - Nugegoda

When the case was called on 20.06.2018, a settlement was proposed by the respondent. The case
was called again on 02.08.2018; it was told then that it was not possible to agree to some of the
demands of the settlement proposed; then it was told that the courts would be informed after
further discussion with the Institute. Accordingly this case was called on 07.11.2018, but with no
arrival at a settlement, the case is scheduled for 29.04.2019.

No 2706/17/M. Miss. B.K. Wijegunewardane Rs. 1335,286/=
District Courts - Nugegoda

When this case was called on 06.07.2018, the fiscal has informed that it has not been possible to
hand over the summons to the 1%, 2", 3™ respondents as they were not there. When the case was
called on 04.12.2018, it was informed that summons should be issued on the 2" and 3™
respondents. The case is called for 21.05.20109.

(b) WP/ACCA/MT/12/12/RA Mrs. K.P. Rani
(Civil Appellate Courts)

The decision regarding this case which was about obtaining a teacher training certificate was
declared on 17.07.2018. According to that decision, the petition has been declared null and void.

Due to a shortcoming in the information provided for the final statement of accounts for the year
2017, this was not revealed in the final statement of accounts. The information is provided
through attachment 04.

4. Review of Service/ Activities
4.1. Activities fullfilled.
4.1.1.Activities and review

(i) As according to the reforms implemented in the year 2017 in curriculum revision awareness
programmes for the A.L. teachers in the system are organized, only after all the Provincial
subject directors for each subject have provided the NIE with the data related to the number
of teachers in each subject in one’s province. Thereafter at the beginning of the year the
number of teachers to be trained in each subject is entered on to the annual plan. It is the
Provincial subject Directors who call the teachers for the workshops held at provincial level.
For some subjects the numbers of teachers participating are lesser than the numbers on the
plan. It is not something within the control of the National Institute of Education. Yet for
some awareness programmes, a number exceeding that stated in the plan could be seen.

(it) Even though the drafts of the Teacher's Guides were ready in 2017 as planned, there was a
delay in obtaining the approval of the Academic Board and the Council.

The current position of the Teacher's Guide is given in attachment 05.

(iii) It has not been possible to complete 25 Resource Books pertaining to the delayed subject
syllabus. The current position regarding the Resource Book is presented in attachment 06.



4.2. Management Activities.

When the officers of the Institute take their allowances according to the Institute Circular 257,
the officers have been notified that such allowances should not exceed 50% of their annual
pay. Accordingly every year the amounts of these surplus earnings are calculated by the 31%
of December and the relevant charges made.

In the reports on earnings above 50% for the years 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 the following were
noticed.

(i) The 50% of the salary had been calculated before the salary adjustments were made.

(if) Even though as per circular payments for examination work had been excluded from the
‘surplus’ payments, in the calculation these had been included.

After the rectification, action will be taken to charge the 'over earnings'.

4.3. Conduct of activities

(@)

(i) Science subject Grade 6, 11

On the current curriculum policy a curriculum cycle is limited to 08 years: between 2005-
2012 what was in operation was the curriculum cycle that prevailed prior to the current
curriculum cycle. Under that cycle all curriculum recommendations were modernized in
respect of the curriculum of Grade G-13. These were introduced to the schools and put into
action in 05 stages from 2007. With the implementation of the curriculum (2005-2012) prior
to the introduction of the new curriculum introduced in 2015 and 2016, the Department of
Research launched a research in four stages in 2007. In addition, to a research handed over the
SLAAD Institute further research to examine the extent to which the curriculum meets with
the objectives of education whether there is integration between the horizontal and the vertical
in the syllabus, the extent so which the syllabus is cohesive, were launched. These reports are
with the Department of Research. The recommendations of these researches were
communicated to the relevant departments and curriculum compilers, and were made use of at
the curriculum revisions that came later.

In the annual plan (2007-2012) there was provision for officers in all departments to do
further studies in their own subjects through field observations; the Department of Science has
taken steps to do accordingly.

Prior to starting editing the syllabus introduced in 2015 all subject committees took steps to
study the global trends in the syllabuses of other countries. Field investigations were
conducted in every subject, the information gathered was matched against the current
demands manifested locally, these were matched against social economic and political
changes; and these analysis were done, and the curriculum was planned separately under
curriculum grids as primary (grade 1-5), secondary (grade 6-11) senior secondary (grade 12-
13). The curriculum for every subject for every grade has been completed.

While the curriculum cycle is in force currently (2015-2022), the curriculum planning
activities were initiated in 2012; information for planning the science syllabus had been
collected. In addition from 2015 January to March an opinion poll was conducted between
January 2015 to March on continuing the syllabus that was there in the school system. The
relevant research reports are available at the Documents and Research Department and
Science Department.



(i) Subject syllabuses for Chemistry, Physics and Biology grade 12 -13 Advanced Level

Teacher training was done on the subject syllabuses with a few changes in order to prevent
delays in proceeding with teaching this subject, and the syllabus material was approved even
at the Academic Board of Studies. By 01.01.2017, the subject syllabus, the Teacher’s Guides
soft copies (in all three media) had been released to the internet.

It is the responsibility of the National Institute of Education, to prepare teachers to initiate
teaching the subjects in schools, therefore the training of the teachers was done directly by the
National Institute of Education giving copies of sections of the Teachers’ Guide (first term)
along with the Biology and Physics syllabus making them available to all teachers. In most
schools the Advanced Level classes were begun in July 2017.

The Science Department of the Ministry of Education has suggested writing the learning
outcomes in detail, as the learning outcomes had not been written in detail, problems may
arise when teachers decide on limits to teaching. There was no suggestion to make changes in
the content. There was agreement on this matter of subject content among all external
Specialists, Boards, officers of the National Institute of Education, and the officers of the
Science branch of the Ministry of Education.

Measures will be taken to prevent a repetition of this kind in the future.
(iii) Information and Communication Technology and General Information Technology

The Technology and Information syllabus from grade 6 to 9 which had been composed by
studying the subject syllabus of various countries was presented to the Academic Board for
recommendation in January 2017. At the Academic Board it was pointed out that 10T and
Scratch Programming could be at university and was therefore not necessary to be done in
schools: a three member committee inclusive of Dr. Gamini Wijewardane was appointed to
present a report on the syllabus content. The report was produced in May 2017. The report
does not say that it is inappropriate to teach 10T or Scratch Programming in schools.
(Attachment 07)

The subject syllabus was revised according to the report and submitted to the Academic
Board. Then it was pointed out that the subject syllabuses had not been done according to the
UNESCO standards when it was re-revised as per UNESCO standards and presented, it was
pointed out that the syllabus content should be done according to the BBC standards. After
that along with Dr. Prasad Wimalaratne member of the Academic Board, the syllabus was
revised taking both the reports, UNESCO and BBC. When it was resubmitted in November
2017 to the Academic Board it was recommended for approval to the Council. The units IOT
and Scratch Programming are included in this approved syllabus.

¢ In the year 2016 the Advanced Level Information and Technology syllabus formulation was
started with the participation of the Ministry of Education. At the time the 10T unit was
included in the syllabus. According to the suggestion of the Academic Board to remove IOT
from the syllabuses of the Grades 06 to 09, IOT it was removed from the syllabus of the
Advanced Level as well, and the recommendation of the Academic Board obtained. But
when it was presented to the Council, on the instructions of the Council, the IOT unit was
re-introduced to the syllabus and approval obtained. According to the recommendations,
teacher training was conducted in 2017August.

e The 13 year subject syllabus presented to the Committee of Three was revised according to
the reports of the Committee of Three, presented to the Academic Board on 05.06.2018, and
recommendations received from the Academic Board and approval from the Council obtained
on 02.08.2018. It was submitted to the Education Publications Department for publication on
19.06.2018. As the Teacher’s Guide and subject syllabus in all three media had been released
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to the Institute web in June 2018, it was possible for teachers and students to obtain the
Teachers’ Guides and subject syllabuses.

In the year 2017, when teacher training was done, teacher training had been done with regards
to the two final competencies (8.9) of the year 13 syllabuses; there is no impediment for those
teachers to begin the 13 year syllabus in either July or September, and continue teaching till
the middle of the second term (February 2019). Training for year 13 has been begun from July
2018, and up to now 1300 teachers have been trained.

(iv)Preparation of the syllabuses in relation to religions.

As mentioned, even though there is only an officer each to handle all activities related to one
subject the participation of External Resource Persons from a list of External Resource
Persons approved by the Director General has been obtained for preparing Teachers’ Guides
(Language) Translations and Teacher Training.

Accordingly while the syllabuses are formulated by specialist Committees comprising
lecturers from universities and Colleges of Education and Senior teachers, the syllabuses will
be submitted to 10 member committees and opinions obtained with regard to the accuracy of
the syllabuses.

The authenticity of the syllabus is not determined by the number of permanent officers
involved, but on the quality of the Resource Persons participating in the process of syllabus
formulation and their sense of responsibility and commitment.

The syllabus thus prepared will be recommended and approved by the Academic Board and
the Council: the responsibility of providing an error -free syllabus is borne by those two
Boards as well.

(v) The new syllabus - Communication and Media Studies.

Even after teacher training activities had started, due to an objection that was raised, the
Chairman of the Academic Board gave it over to a Committee for observation. Consequently
the Academic Board decided to revise some of the sections of the syllabus. As it was taking
time to put the new syllabus in to force in the schools, instead of this subject that should have
been in force in 2017/2018 on the syllabus cycle begun in 2015, it was decreed that the
syllabus that had already been introduced to the Grades 12 - 13 in 2008, be continued in
respect of those students who would be sitting the A/L examination for the first time in 2019.
A request by letter that instructions be issued to the relevant schools to take necessary action
through a circular has been made by the Director General on 04.12.2017 to the Secretary,
Education on the advice of the Academic Board. The relevant circular has been issued.

The new syllabus Communication and Media Studies (Sinhala Medium) for Grade 12, has
been released to the internet following the recommendation of the Academic Board
(08.05.2018) and the approval of the Council (17.05.2018). Following that, the Grade 12
Tamil Medium syllabus has been released to the internet following the recommendation of the
Academic Board, (05.06.2018) and the approval of the Council (21.06.2018). The teacher
training in respect of all provinces, in this subject - Communication and Media Studies A/L
for teachers of grade 12 in the Sinhala and Tamil media has been completed. Of the 513
teachers trained according to the response sheets, about 95% are of the opinion that the new
syllabus can be successfully done in 2018.

A letter has been sent by the Director General (13.07.2018) to the Secretary Education that the
new syllabus of the subject - Communication and Media Studies be in force in Grade 12 from
2018 onwards, and that a circular to that effect be issued. Thereby the Secretary Education
has issued circular 39/2018 on 23.10.2018.



(b) The delay in starting teacher training and the lack of formality in the organization.

The Teacher training workshop was held in August, as there was a delay in receiving the
financial provision of the sum of rupees five (5) million from the Ministry of Education; and
as the A/L teachers could not be got down in May, June and July because they were involved
in getting the children ready to sit the examination in August. By August, the financial
provision had reached the NIE.

For organizing the training workshops, the Directors who were working/ performing as
coordinating officers of the subject - Communication and Technology were called and they
were made aware of the training. Those provincial coordinating officers had made the
teachers aware through the zonal officers, and the workshops were conducted immediately
calling the teachers on the information they had submitted to the web. Therefore it was a well
organized workshop. Making due use of information technology, getting the support of the
relevant Provincial and Zonal officers, holding the training workshops without delay, it had
been possible to train 1023 teachers.

The schools where the A/L classes are taught have computers and internet facilities. If it is
not so they are not able to teach the subject - Communication and Technology. The teachers
teaching Communication and Technology have the ability to fill in a form on line. This can
be done through a smart phone with internet facilities. Therefore by having to obtain an online
application form, the teachers are not deprived of an opportunity to follow the training. At the
awareness workshops held at the National Institute of Education for the Provincial Directors
of Communication and Technology on 17.05.2017, they were informed to make the teachers
who require training aware of the workshops. Teachers were called for the workshop through
Provincial Directors in charge of the subject, Communication and Technology, on information
received online.

(c) Administration and holding of Examinations

(i) As there are only a few similar courses it has been difficult to get the participation of
examiners on the requirements of this institute. It has also been difficult to get the numbers
required. (For some examinations held by this Institute applicants sitting the examinations are
between 3000-4000). B.Ed in Education is available only in three universities, and it has been
difficult to get the service of those lecturers too.

Consequently, the officers of the Confidential Section, select lecturers at random from a list
provided by the relevant department or a lecturer expert in that subject from another
university, and call them/him/her for the initial setting of the question paper. In moderating
the paper the services of a university lecturer or an external expert are obtained.

In certain instances controlling Examiners are appointed from among experts who were not
directly involved with the course.

(ii) In 2013 the work on a Manual of Instructions and a Draft of Regulations Gazette was begun.
The first draft was presented to the Council on 28.05.2015. It had been given over to Council
member Prof. W.D.W. Jayathilake for observation and a revised draft was completed with his
instructions. Then when the revised draft was presented to the newly appointed Council of
November 2017, the draft was directed to the scrutiny of the former Commissioner General of
Examinations, A.M.R.B. Amarakoon. The final copy was presented to the Council on
18.10.2018, and has been approved.

(iii) Four examinations not included in the calendar of Examinations 2017 have been conducted,
thereby bringing the number of examinations held, up to 20.

The reason for not holding examinations are given in supplementary document 01.



The reasons for the delay in issuing examination results are given below.

e The methodology of evaluation adopted by the National Institute of Education for
professional courses includes, Final written examination Assignments, teacher
training, thesis and action based research.

e The final written examination is conducted by the Department of Examinations, while
the other evaluations are conducted by the relevant departments. The results are
calculated taking the marks of the two sets together. The delay in receiving the marks
for the separate sections is the cause for the delay in issuing results.

e The results thus calculated finally are presented to the Examination Committee and
the Academic Board, and with their recommendations are presented to the Council
for approval. The recommendation of the Academic Board is only confirmed at the
following Council sitting, therefore it is not possible to submit the results to the next
Council meeting but the one after, in the following month. This also contributes to
the delay.

e The issue of results of all courses on the Grade Point average system (GPV/GPA)
was started this year. In case of discrepancy in certain evaluation procedures in the
issue of results or the calculation of results after the examination was held, the
relevant department has to present them to the Academic Board and Council again,
revise according to the instructions given and then resubmit to the Academic Board
and the Council. This also contributes to the delay in producing results of
examinations.

Delays due to these or other reasons have been presented through supplementary
document 02.

The supplementary document 03 gives the clarification in respect of the statement
which asserts that over one year has been taken to issue the results of the
examinations held in the year 2015/2016.

(d) Maintaining a data system related to Education Leadership Development and

(€)

Management.

The Department of Teacher Education has been maintaining an Information Data System with
regard to the MEd course, and a copy is presented along with. (Attachment 08)

The relevant officers have been given instructions to maintain such documents relevant to the
other courses too.

Research and Development Activities

Obtaining recommendations from an evaluation committee on the research reports completed
by the Departments, had not been included as a feature of the Pre Annual Plans. Therefore the
need to present the completed research reports from 2014, 2017 to an Evaluation Committee

had not arisen.

(i) Entering the research findings of the Departments on the Institute web:



(ii) Opportunities are provided for the new knowledge generated by the Department through
seminars to be published through making it available at the reading cell and libraries.

(f) The delay in printing the Teachers’ Handbook

The reasons for the delay in preparing the Grade 12 A/L Teachers’ Guide getting it approved
are given below.

Even though the work was well begun and well planned with a clear knowledge of the time it
takes from the moment of preparing the syllabus of any subject, getting the syllabus approved
and then planning the Teachers’ Guides, when the planning was actually taking place, because
of certain decisions that were not there at the time, extra time had to be expended as detailed
below.

On a decision made on 16.02.2016 at the 351% meeting by the Academic Board, all A/L
subject syllabus and Teachers’ Guides had to be presented to a 10 member committee named
by the Academic Board, recommendation obtained, and revisions made if any, and then only
submitted to the Academic Board. Even though it contributed to the quality upliftment of the
syllabuses, since it was a procedure that was not there at the time of the planning, a
considerable amount of time had to be expended on this matter.

Because of certain circumstances, the Council meetings were not held after January 2016. On
the decision of the Minister of Education to appoint a new Council, till the new Council held
its first meeting in August 2016, since for nearly 06 months the Council had not met, it was
not possible for the syllabus materials to be recommended.

Consequently, as there was a large number of syllabuses which had been recommended by the
Academic Board, as a temporary measure to prevent the delay in obtaining recommendation,
it was decided to direct those syllabuses that had been recommended by the Academic Board
to the Department of Education Publications.

After even the production stage was completed, having obtained the approval of the Academic
Board and the Council, syllabuses of some subjects had to be revised from the initial stage
itself. As a result the production of Teachers’ Guide was held up.

Emergency steps were taken to remove the obstacles that had arisen in the non-provision of
the Teachers’ Guides to the schools and the consequent delay in putting the new syllabus into
action in the schools; Teachers’ Guides were resographed, training manuals were done, in
every subject and distributed to all A/L teachers. Thus the National Institute of Education was
actively engaged in providing a training and introducing the new syllabus to the A/L teachers.
This training was completed in all subjects except a few before the A/L 2017 was started.

As mentioned regards Biology referred to in 4.3 (A) ii above, the situation was, outside the
normal procedure. As it would take a longer time to print at an outside printers and do the
distribution as soon as it was approved, action was taken to print it at the Institute Printing
Press, in all three media, English, Sinhala, Tamil, within three days and a copy each was
provided to every school that teaches the subject.

Thus action was taken to minimize the delay in putting the Grade 12 syllabus into action in
schools, because of the delayed syllabuses and Teachers’ Guides. The National Institute was
directly involved in providing the awareness and teacher training programmes, and also
providing the printed copies of the syllabus during the training itself. The shortage of both the
academic staff and the non-academic was felt very strongly in doing these, the translation of
the Teachers’ Guide into several languages took long periods of time that was out of control.
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I.  Before the Teachers’ Guide could reach the schools, teachers were given resographed
copies during the training. In introducing the new syllabus, every A/L teacher was given a
training directly by the National Institute of Education.

ii.  Schedule No 4 gives the current status of the Teachers’ Guides that were not sent to the
Educational Publications by 2018 January 31 - related to the subject syllabuses that should
have been started in the Advanced Level classes in 2017.

(9) Investigation into the situation of the Dining Hall

Even though there are 09 cooks serving in the dining hall, one chief cook handles the
documents regarding the requests for food, as well as those related to the food items ordered.

When the space and goods in the dining hall are taken into consideration it can be seen that it
has facilities for accommodation to over 200 at one go. The workers at the dining hall are
employed on a system of turns-roster-thereby four cooks are employed in a day for one turn.
When those cooks apply for leave in emergencies, there is a problem of providing the food
ordered.

It is accepted that the expenditure outstrips the income from the supply of meals due to the
increased expenditure for the rising prices of the raw materials in the market. Action has been
taken to revise the prices of food in accordance with the new prices, consequently the income
will be improved in the future.

Current situation

The charges and rates have been revised according to the Administration Circular
No. 471/2018 of 11.10.2018.

4.4 The under utilization of income.

(@) The following books have been produced by the Department of Mathematics and handed over
to the printing section for printing.

Grade 10 a compendium of Revision Questions - Sinhala medium copies 7000
The books have been handed over for printing on 21.10.2016.

e That a sum of Rs. 1,845,000/= has been paid to the Institute account on 23.112016 by the
Asian Development Bank for providing of these books is accepted. Because of the pressure of
work at the Printing Press, the printing of these books has got delayed.

As those books needed to be printed very quickly, on a policy decision taken by the Council,
action was taken to get those books printed at an outside Institute. Accordingly along with
2000 books for sale, an order was placed for the printing of 9000 books by order number 7002,
at an external printing institute on 18.01.2018; at present it is in the stage of being proof read.

The relevant officers have been told to take action to distribute these books to the schools as

soon as the printing is over.
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The current situation

The final proof copy of the compendium of revision question papers has been done by the
Department and the compact disc was handed over to the relevant printers on 24.12.2018.

e The compendium of Maths Revision Papers Grade 10 (Tamil Medium) copies 3000
These books have been handed over to the printing section on 21.10.2016 for printing.
| accept that a sum of Rs. 1,042,500/= has been credited to the Institute account by the Asian
Development Bank for the printing of these books. Even though the printing of these books
was delayed due to the busy schedule of the Institute Printing Press, by now a total of 1015

books has been completed and handed over to the Publications stores.

The relevant officers have been instructed to take necessary action to distribute these books to
the schools.

e The compendium of Maths Revision Paper Grade 11 (English Medium) 3000 copies.
These books have been handed over to the printing section on 21.10.2016 for printing.
It is accepted that a sum of Rs. 900,000/= have been credited to the Institute account by the
Asian Development Bank for the printing of these books. Because of the pressure of the work
at the Printing Papers, the printing of these books has got delayed.
As these books needed to be printed very quickly, on a policy taken by the Council, action was
taken to get these books printed at an outside institute. Accordingly an order (7003) was placed

at a printing press outside on 18.01.2018, and currently the proofs are being read.

The relevant officers have been instructed to take action to distribute these books to the schools
as soon as the printing is over.

The current situation

The second proof of the compendium of Revision Question papers has been done by the
Department of Maths, and handed over to the relevant press on 24.12.2018.

(b) The amount spent on Research awards

2016 for workshops Rs. 29,200.00
2017 for workshops Rs.  72,000.00
Newspaper advertisements Rs.  80,500.00
Initial payment for 3 Research awards Rs. 375,000.00
2 Research Award workshops + 1 workshop on Culture Research Rs.  87,000.00
Expenditure up to 2018 May 31 Rs. 643,700.00
Expenditure from 2018 May 31 - 2018.12.31 Rs. 1,344,738.00

Accordingly the Total expenditure on Research award workshops Rs. 1,988.438.00
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With the balance the second installments for three research awards have been paid. A sum of
Rs. 1,500,000/= is scheduled to be paid as the 3 and 4™ installments by December 2019.

(c) The compilation of curriculum material for several selected A/L subjects on the financial
provisions made by Australia under AUSAID was begun. The books listed below were
scheduled to be done in the year 2014. The current situation is shown in schedule 5.

Necessary action regarding the books mentioned in the schedule will be taken.

(d) Action has been taken to invest monies in fixed deposits depending on the way monies get
saved. Accordingly a sum of Rs. 250,000,000.00 has been invested in fixed deposits. Action
will be taken to invest the balance money as appropriate on the repo investing system.

4.5. Non-economic Transactions.

Action has been taken as according to agreement to charge 50% of all electricity bills for 2017
of the canteen maintained at the Faculty of Education Leadership Development and
Management, Meepe.

Even though it has been stated in the agreement that the entire electricity bill for the Milk Bar
should be paid by the contractor, as the Milk Bar is maintained as a welfare measure, action
was taken to charge 50% of that electricity bill too, same as that of the canteen.

Accordingly 50% of the charge of the electricity bill of the Milk Bar for the year 2017 has been
made. Action will be taken to make the necessary revisions in the agreement.

4.6. Staff Administration

(@) Action is being taken to revise the recruitment procedure in 2018; action will also be taken
to determine the employee-recruitments.

As the 2018 budget proposals have suggested an overall restructuring of the National
Institute of Education, and as relevant proposals regarding the proposed restructuring are
being made by a special committee, | make mention of the fact that in order to broaden the
scope of the Institute in the future, a revision of the staff structure should inevitably take
place.

Three newspaper advertisements were published in 2017, and action is being taken to fill 28
of the posts mentioned there in.

A lady officer has been recruited for the post of civil engineer; the two assistants posts have
been filled.

(b) While a regular system for internal transfer had not been put in place till now, a regular
system has been now formally drafted.

(c) Three newspaper advertisements were published for making appointments for 28 posts of
these; for 05 posts, 6 have been appointed for the relevant posts in the year 2017 and 2018;
an adequate number of applications as per recruiting procedure has not been received for the
balance 23 posts, among which are 8 Director posts, and 02 Deputy Director posts.

Out of the 28 posts, 13 posts are still left over; interviews have been held for 4 posts.
Arrangements are made to hold interviews for the balance posts.
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(d) The vacancies for the Library Staff are as follows.

Post Recommended Staff Vacancies Date of

Staff Engaged Vacancy
Director (Library) 01 - 01 from 2013
Asst. Librarian 01 - 01 from inception
Library Asst. 04 01 03 from 2013
Management Asst. 01 - 01 from 2017

The details are as follows :

Even though applications were called for the post of Director, as there had been a delay in
obtaining the approval from the Management Services Department, and as an adequate
number of applications had not been received, it had not been possible to fill that post
during that period.

The post of Assistant Librarian is for the Library at the Faculty of Education Leadership
Development and Management at Meepe. As there is a delay in receiving the approval from
the Department of Management Services it has not been possible to make the appointment.

Two (2) Library Assistants had been recruited in December 2014. One has left the service,
the other is currently in service. As approval has been received from the Department of
Management Services to recruit two library assistants, action will be taken to make these
appointments.

As the Management Assistant who had been in employment in the library has resigned from
August 2017, and there is an insufficiency of library assistants, so far it has not been
possible to fill that vacancy. When appointments are made for the posts of Management
Assistants, action will be taken to second one of those to the library.

(e) Once the new procedure of appointment is approved, these vacancies can be filled.

4.7. Vehicles

According to the Expenditure Ledger of the transport section on 21 occasions a sum of
Rs. 2,629,236.50 has been paid to local agents for repairs of vehicles. The vehicles of a good
standard that belong to the Institute have been directed for such repairs in consideration of
their long-lasting maintenance.

It was noticed that the amount paid to local agents for vehicle servicing has been considered
as repairs in the calculation of expenditure incurred. These vehicles were directed for repairs,
in order to maintain them so that they will be serviceable for another 5-10 years.

4.8. Inert and Underutilized Assets

Already some of the goods bought in 2016/2017 have been delivered to the departments that
had made the requests. The balance too has been distributed by now.

14



5. Sustainable Development
5.1. Reaching the goals of Sustainable Development

Even though the circular 2017 No. 9 issued by the Ministry of Finance and Media under the
Sustainable Development Bill was not received by the Institute and therefore the Institute
was not aware of it, on receiving the Auditor General’s letter DER/2017/SDG/15, the
relevant circular was downloaded and action taken to be aware of it.

Although these were some difficulties in formulating goals and some indistinctness arising
out of the nebulous nature of the role and responsibility of the Institute, on 18.07.2018, the
Director Planning had taken the information on the identified goals and objectives to the lady
auditor of the Department of Auditing personally himself.

6. Accounting and Good Government
6.1. Procurement
(c) Supply of furniture for the office of the Director General

| accept that household effects and office furniture bought at Rs. 4,492,613/= mentioned in
the report of the year under review, had not been purchased on obtaining the guarantee
required by the relevant proviso of the procurement procedure.

| accept that in purchasing lecture hall tables and chairs which were Rs. 2,113,200/= the
required guarantees as per procurement procedure had not been obtained. The officers of
the Finance section have been made aware that necessary action must be taken to obtain the
guarantees in making purchases according to the guidelines of procurement.

The buying of these AC machines was scheduled to be fulfilled in 2017 on the plan of
procurement; and therefore it was necessary to bring the transaction to a completion in the
year 2017 itself; approval was obtained on 20.17.2017 to call for tenders on the
comparative system from the Institutes mentioned on the Rainbow Pages under covering
approval from the minor procurement committee.

While it is accepted that there has been a delay in the procurement procedure, the officers
have been instructed to complete the activity during the period planned.

As it is necessary to complete this procurement within 2017 itself action has been taken to
obtain the prices as soon as possible, once the specifications for the machines have been
received from the technical committee.

Officers have been instructed to take the necessary action in the future to prevent an
occurrence of such shortcomings, and to follow the instructions of the Instructions Manual

properly.

Following the methodology mentioned above, this purchase was made without delay to
prevent any loss in the 2017 annual allocation.

6.2. Control of Income and Expenditure

Even though of the monies allocated for buildings in 2017, 161 million rupees were set aside
for the 5 storeyed building, there was a delay in starting the building project as more time
than expected was taken in selecting a suitable contractor. Therefore as the building could
not be completed in 2017, a portion of the provisions was left remaining. That is the cause
for this fluctuation.

Because of the many difficulties in making the appointment to the technical post in the
Engineering section that had fallen vacant, the designing of specification forms, evaluation,
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providing estimates and such like could not be done in time, consequently the monies
remained unspent.

The shortage in working staff and the consequent delays in purchasing goods also
contributed to this fluctuation.

Income
The income of the Institution

Although in the audit query under this head, the sum of income -expenditure was stated as
Rs. 138,825,000/=, according to the revised income-expenditure statement it is
Rs. 192,625,000/= (Recurrent 138,825,000/= - Capital 53,800,000/=)

The expected income earned by the Institute through the courses conducted and other means
is included in the Income-Expenditure Report. There are times when the actual income is
different from the expected income.

The increase of the numbers of the applicants admitted to the B.Ed Degree which brings a
high income to the Institute from the usual number of 2500 to 4900 (starting two courses as
General and Special) and the increase of applicants admitted to the Post-Graduate Diploma in
Education from 3000 to 3600 con-currently have increased the expected income.

Personal Salaries and Allowances

Salaries and stipends

In preparing the statement of income and expenditure of the Institute for the year 2017, in
addition to the provision required for the salaries and stipends of those employed on the staff
of the Institute at the time, the provision was required for, the salaries and stipends of nearly
200 academic and non academics required for filling the vacancies in the Institute were also
included.

A large number of new appointments as well as staff promotions were made in the latter half
of the year 2017, and the delay in providing appointments for many due to different reasons
also contributed to this fluctuation.

As the contributions to the EPF fund for the years 2006-2015 had been made without taking
the cost of living allowance into consideration; a request was made to the Treasury to make
use of the balance of the above provision to pay nearly 72 million rupees as required to be
paid to the EPF on behalf of the institute staff, with the approval of the Council and the
Secretary, Education, and the approval of the Treasury obtained. However since the Treasury
did not release the money, it could not be done.

Gratuity

What is indicated as gratuity expenses in the final accounts is the money allocated for
gratuities to all employees for the year 2017.

But when the statement of income expenditure is prepared what is estimated for is only the

monies required as gratuity scheduled to be paid to those officers who are expected to go on
retirement. Therefore this also can be considered as a reason of the fluctuation.
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Travelling Expenses - foreign

This situation has occurred as a result of the course fees paid for foreign courses being
included along with the travelling expenses for foreign travel in the final statement of
accounts. In the preparation of the statement of income and expenditure, the allowances for
those course fees are entered under the item of staff development expenses. Therefore the
situation should be as follows.

Expenditure Income-expenditure Real Value Fluctuation
value
Foreign  Travel (1102) | 14950,000
Office Staff Development | (4,5550,000 + 14,036,083 6%
(1905.1) 10,400,000)

| state that I shall take steps to rectify this situation in the future.

Supplies and Consumables
Stationery and Printing

This fluctuation has occurred as a result of not purchasing the stationery and printing
maternal as expected. This fluctuation is admitted.

Repairs and Maintenance Expenses.

Vehicle repairs and maintenance expenses.

Allocations are made out of recurrent expenditure. In addition to this a certain portion of the
capital expenditure is also allocated.

Consequently the inclusion of the expenditure on vehicle repairs (as according to the
classification of the expenditure in the final accounts) within the capital expenditure has
brought about this situation.

Buildings : repairs and maintenance

The expenses for the repair and maintenance of buildings were borne under real expenses
under conservation and improvement of buildings, but to which was added the repair
expenses and maintenance expenses that could not be attributed under capital, which has
given rise to this situation.

Other

The sum of Rs. 24,548,103.81 which has been accounted for as accrued expenses in the
journal statement under 32B in the account under ‘other’ has been informed as debit to the
Finance section, under the head, machinery maintenance. As no allocations have been made
under that expenditure head, this has been accounted for as accrued and stated in the account
other expenditure. That is why the above fluctuation has occurred.
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Services agreed upon
Stamp fare and advertisements

As it had been planned to train all the AL teachers in the system in the year 2017, a higher sum of
money was estimated for stamp fare. But since the teacher training programmes that pertained to a
higher number of subjects were planned and executed by the relevant provincial departments, the
amount of money that had to be spent on stamps was lesser than the amount accounted for.

Cleaning Services

It is observed that in entering the expenses incurred for cleaning services in the Audit Query, the
estimated cost and the actual cost has been interchanged due to an oversight. It should be rectified as
follows.

Real value - 15,085,331
Accounted for value - 13,000,000
2,085,331

Accordingly the fluctuation is +16%. Even though the rates of the cleaning services selected at the
latter half of 2017, had increased, as the correct information regarding the accrued expenditure had not
been received on the occasion when the revised income expenditure statement was being processed, an
expenditure higher than accounted for, had to be incurred. Accordingly the fluctuation mentioned
herein is accepted

7. Systems and Administration

(a) Accounting
While the shortcomings that have occurred in the processing of the Financial Statement for the
year 2017 have been identified, action will be taken to rectify them in processing the financial
statement for the year 2018.

(b) Administering operations
(i) Not taking steps to prevent delays in designing curriculum, and not taking steps to
design the curriculum properly.

On the process where modernization/revision of the curricula takes place in an eight year
cycle, the new curriculum was put into operation in the school system in 2015, and the final
phase was entered into in 2017, this was begun according to the five year plan, 2012-2016,
2013-2017. The relevant curriculum revision was put in place for primary 1-5 grades and
secondary 6-11 without any delay, and was operable in schools too from 2015. There are
50 subjects pertaining to the GCE AL, the syllabuses, the Teachers’ Guides in these three
media, Sinhala, Tamil and English for these subjects are being done. Accordingly 92
Teachers’ Guides must be designed for the GCE A/L.

The subject syllabuses and the Teachers’ Guides are drafted on the recommendation
obtained from the Academic Board for the draft, then presented to the Council for
approval; on receiving the approved drafts they are sent to the Education Publications
Department for printing and distribution to schools.

According to the plan, although the compilation of the A/L syllabus and Teachers’ Guides
should have started in 2015, and completed by the end of 2016, it was delayed due to the
reasons given below.
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The meetings of the Council not taking place from January 2016 to August 2016. (because
members were not appointed)

The decision of the Academic Board, that the A/L syllabus materials should be directed to
a 10 member committee, and submitted to the Academic Board with the recommendation
of the 10 member committee (As this condition was not there at the time of planning, it
took about 6 months extra time)

Taking a long period for the language revision and the translation of the A/L syllabus
material.

However, despite these hindrances about 90% of the Grade 12 subject syllabuses/
Teachers’ Guides were completed, and distributed to the schools by the Education
Publications Department. The NIE had published them on the Institute web. The National
Institute of Education has directly conducted the teacher training for all A/L teachers in
those subjects.

Even though there was a problematic situation regarding these subject syllabuses/
Teachers’ Guides, the National Institute of Education by providing solutions to these
problems and providing a training directly to the A/L teachers, has given the opportunity to
the schools to start the work.

The year 13 syllabus/ The Teachers’ Guides for 2018 have all been completed on schedule,
and given over to the Department of Education publications. The teacher training relevant
therein has been completed.

In addition to the work of all curriculum development mentioned above, in the year 2017
the National Institute of Education has designed syllabuses for 26 new subjects, completed
26 modules, and trained teachers for them to be implemented as a pilot project in 42
schools, to introduce an A/L vocational subject stream to schools - as a novel development
in the Sri Lankan Education.

(if) The non-conduct of research per taking decisions regarding curriculum development.

When a cycle of the curriculum is in operation action is taken to gather research
information on that. The curriculum cycle that started in the year 2015, followed the
curriculum cycle that was in operation from 2007-2014. The Institute had done a research
on the horizontal and vertical integration of the syllabus through the SLAAD Institute; the
Department of Research has done a research on the execution of the syllabus, and the
relevant parties have been made aware of the findings of these researches.

While a mechanism for getting information on the feedback on the Primary curriculum is
continuously in place, the relevant departments have done a deep study of, and obtained the
ideas of the stake holders of how the syllabus of Grade 6-11 are executed.

The Department of Research has completed seven (7) research studies directly related to
taking policy decisions on curriculum department and professional development. While
information on curriculum in different countries is studied, these have been used in the
compilation of the syllabus of the new subjects.

The Department of Research has completed 07 research studies directly related to taking
decisions on Curriculum Development and Professional Development.
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The report has been on an analysis of the system, related to the new education revision that
should take place in 2017, going beyond 2020; making use of that report, information has
been gathered at provincial level to inquire further into the ideas of the stake holders. The
final report is being done, and will be made use of to make policy decisions on the
modernization of the syllabus due after 2020.

Opportunity for the curriculum formation level, the policy formulating level, the policy
operational level, to get this necessary research information has been created, by making
this research conducted by the Research Department available on the Institute website, the
Department Reading Cell and the library. Further avenues necessary for giving publicity to
these research findings as well as the research findings of other stake holders representing
the system of education have been opened by holding seminars to release the research
findings of the department. Further by now the Department has taken steps to make the
system aware by the publication of a bi-annual journal carrying the research of the
Department of Research and Development.

(iii)The non availability of a data system from which information on the Registration and
completion of Degree courses, and Diploma courses, can obtained.

The document prepared by the Teacher Education Department on the Master of Education
is attached herewith. (Annex 08)

The officers have been notified on preparing relevant documents on other courses as well.
(c) Administration of Examinations

The Department of Examination of the National Institute of Education conducts about 22
examinations in an year. The dates of the holding of the examinations are determined in
correspondence to the dates of the beginning of the courses, the dates and duration of the
courses. Accordingly a formal Calendar of Examinations is planned, and it is approved within
the Annual Plan. However the dates of holding some of the examinations get changed
depending on unavoidable reasons related to the delay in beginning the course, the change in
the duration of the courses which are due to situations beyond control that have arisen during
the examinations. These Examinations are held, taking these reasons into consideration.

It is the officers in field of Education, Teacher Education, Teacher Advisors. Principals and
teachers in the system, and lecturers in the university system whose services are utilised in the
conduct of examinations. As these external resource persons get called for Department of
Examinations, the university and other national level examinations, sometimes it is not
possible to obtain their services; so it becomes difficult to conduct the examinations of the
Institute as planned. As the payments at universities, Department of Examinations and other
institutes are higher these external resource persons give priority to the service in those
institutions.

After the examinations are held following the completion of the duration of the course,
because of the difficulties in obtaining the services for evaluation work, there are obstacles in
releasing the results soon. Besides, even though two years have lapsed following the requests
for a revision of the Institute payments, salaries and the number of employees, the inability to
provide these has led to a decline in the attendance of external resource persons, increasing the
time taken to do the evaluation.

A compendium of Examination Instruction has also been compiled.
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(d) Management of staff employed

The approved vacancies of both the academic and the non academic staff of the National
Institute of Education had been there for quite some time; many hardships had to be faced to
get approval for those from both the Salaries and Cadre Commission, and the Management
Services Department. On continuous requests approval was given in 2016 to fill 79 vacancies
and 125 vacancies in 2017.

Accordingly so far 108 vacancies have been filled through new recruitments and promotions;
action was taken to initiate the recruitment procedure for the balance vacancies in 2018. It must
also be mentioned that since the provincial election was held in the months of January and
February 2018, there had been a delay in this procedure.

The Current Situation

On the newspaper advertisement of 29.03.2018, there had been no applications with the
qualifications fulfilled according to the procedure of recruitment, for 05 posts (Director -
Administration and Human Resources), Director (Examinations), Board Secretary,
Procurement Officer, Book Keeper, and two other posts.

Interviews have been held for one of the 03 posts (Procurement Officer). Arrangements have
been made to hold interviews for the other two posts, Director (Examinations) and Book
Keeper.

By now a newspaper advertisement has been published (19.10.2018) to fill 89 vacancies of 25
posts.

(e) Procurement Process

While there is a lot of work related to the annual procurement of the Institute, due to the lack of
awareness of the procurement procedure among the staff; and the lack of staff, problems have
arisen in working according Procurement Guidelines. | accept that as a result the shortcomings
shown in the audit observations have occurred. It has also been observed that constant delays
occur in the procurement process, due to the reasons given above. Action will be taken to
remove these shortcomings through training in order to ensure that the relevant staff undertake
the procurement matters correctly and effectively.

Dr (Mrs.) T.A.R.J. Gunasekara

Director General
National Institute of Education
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant Accounting Policies

1.1 Reporting Entity’
National lnstitute of Education has been incorporated under the National Institute of
Education Act no. 28 of 1985. The main administration office of the Institute is located-
at No.21, High Level Road, Maharagama. The Financial Year for the Institute is the
year ending 31 December. _ _ '
1.2 Conversion of foreign exchange - All forelgn exchange transactions are converted at
the rate of exchange prevaﬂmg at the time the transactions were effected.
1.3 Basis 6f.'pfé['_ia'rat'ioi't
131 '-"Stéféhent of compliance
The- f1nanc1aI statements compnse the statement of financial pos.:mon, stdlcmcnt of
Ilnanmal performancc statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and notes
to the financial statements. These statéments have ber_n prepared in accordance with .
' the Sri Lanka pubhc sector accounting standards (SLPSAS) issued by thie In‘;nlutc of
- Chartered Accountants of ri Lanka. . . £ '
14 Assets and the Bases of the:r Valuatmn
' . 1.4.1 'Debtors & Other Recewablc S _
Receivables are carrled at anhn:lpated realisable value. An’ es.tlmato is made
for dotibtful recewables based on a revnew of spec1f ic outstandmg amounts at
“the year end. S . R
14.2 Pfa;ieir.ty, Plant & Eqm’pfnen't and Deprecidtion' o
. Assefs aie - recordécl at cost or revalued ampunt less ace umuldtcd
-depremat:on (Carrymg Amount) and cost ‘includes - expcndltmc that. is -
directly attributable to the acqulsmon of the asset. Deprcuation is chmpcd to
 the income statement.on the written down values at the following rates per
_ annum in order fo wrlte off the cost of such assets over lhmr aqhmatcd use'f al-
_llves : - .
O[fice Furniture & Fquipment . 10%
Computer Equipments . 331/3%
Library Books & Periodicals o 10% .
Motor. Bicycles & Bicycles S 20%
Plart & Machinety - - - S 10%
Motor Vehi¢cles = - " S 20%
' Bulldmgs R o 5%
Photccopv Machlnes _ 10%
National Institute of Education . Financial Statements 2017
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont)

143

144

145

Inventoties
Inventories have been valued at lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cash & Cash Equivalents

_Caeh & Cash Equwalents are defined as cash in hand, cash in lransit &

current account balances in banks
Cash Flow

C.ash Flow statement has been px epared usmg the indirect method.

1.5. Accmmh ng Grants

Grants [hat .compensate lhe institute for expenses incurred are recognl‘a('d as

.revenuc in the income statement on a Systematlc basis in the same perlod in whtrh

fhe expenfses are incurred. Grants that compensate the institute for the cost of asset -

is cap1ta117ed and amortised as reveriue on a systematm basis over the useful life of -

the rela ted assets,

16 ' Employee Beneflts

L6l

162

. Pr0v1smn for gratulty

A vamon has been made for rehrmg ?ratulty payablc under ”Retumg :
"C’ratulty Act, No 12 of '1983" for all employee'; who have ‘joincd the

i Instltute The llabllity is not cxternally funded nor is it ac tuc:rlallv leLIt‘El

T
Defme contri buhon plans

Obl1gat10ns for contributions to Employees Prov1dent Fund and Emp loyeoa

- Trust fund are recogmsed as mcurred expenses in tlne income statement

R Currerlt Llabllmes

Current L1ab111t1es are those whu:h Eall due for payment on demand or wzthm one - .

year from the balance sheet date Non Current Llablhhes wﬂl fall due for paymcnl#

one year cr more af ter the balance sheetdate

- 18 " Events after the Balance Sheet Date

The matenahty of events occumng a{ter the balance sheet da{e has been e0n51d ered

and appmp riate ad;ustment whe1 ever nece&sary, have becn made in the accounts,

" National Institute of Education . .> |- Financial Statements 207 . - .
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'NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS fcont)
1.9 | .Incom(_: and lixpenditure' |

1.9.1  Revenue recognition _
i G'O_V'_err\ment Grant for Recurrent Expenditure recognized cash basis in the
_Inc_cilﬁe & Exﬁenditure Statement.
(ii) Suiplus / Deficits on examinations, seminars, courses and other educational
~and. members activities are taken to income accounts in the year of
. ..._!..‘(_)1"1‘:1{.]18 tion of such activity. ' |
1.9.2 .Ex-:ﬁer'ic_i_i'ture
(1) | '-;f‘_.il_llex.penditure incurred in the running of the institute and maintaining the
: ca'ip_.ital.assets n the state of (_éf_ficiency has been charged to revenue in
; __E_ir_r';i:\{in gat the surplﬁs - (deficity for the yeaf, '
iy Al .Expenditure incurred in the acquisition extension, or improvement of |
assets of a permanent nature in order to carry on or increase the éarning
. capacity of the institute has been treated as capital expenditure. -

»

20 Co’n_tinﬁeqc___i_gs _
.. Contingent Assets

2.1 Since the outcome of legal cases indicated below are subjected to the

5,

decision of the court they are disclosed as contingent assets.

" 1. No.780/09/M/finance -  Rs.2,237,3%7
2. No. 4801/05/finarice - Rs. 2,947,755
3. Mrs. KW.P.A, Weerawardhana - Rs.- 198,497

4. Miss. BK: Wijegunawardhene - 7 Rs.1,335,286

22 Assets _in' the value of Rs. 202_,189._6[} which were identified as short during asset

e verif‘icafidn will be carriéd pui once leg_ai proceedings are finalized..

23  Rs. 27,092,558.93 worth of orderé have been issued and no goods were received as él-

e the balance sheet data. : ' o ’
.Arrea.rs an EPF.& ETFE

- 24 'The_re is an arrears payment an EPF & ETF relevant to financial y.cars from 200_6 to
| 2015 Rs. 72,188,213,.07 and Rs. 4,403,405.99 respects
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Assets -
Crurent Aﬁsets

Certified Correct

* Secretary to the Ministry of Educaﬁon

Cash and Cash eqmvalents : 1 468,699,828.91 |
Short term Investments  ~ ©. - 2 417,655,029.35
Trade, Oﬂtﬂ‘ recmvables and advames : 34 87,865 127,90
Inveritoiies / Stock 5 35,722,652.54 |
Prepayments 6 . 78,655.00 §
1,010,021,293.70
an-cunepmmts SCR
Receivables - 7 160,643.39
Work in progress 8 62,330,990.43
hl&astructure, Plant, Equlpment, Land and Bwldmgs 9 . 751,198,130.32
813,-6_89,7641_;14
Total Assets. 1,823,711,057.84
Liabilities . -
Current Liabilities . P
Trade, Other Payble & Accrued Expense o 10 186,790,860.79
Course fees & others received in ‘Advance - 11 £9,009,665.80
R T N 27580052659
Non-Current Liabilities Lo
Deferred Income: = 12 -160,643.39
. |Provision for Gtatmty 13 134,640,31227-
. [Total Liabilities 134,800,955.66
Net Agsets 1,413,109,575.59
" |Net Assets / Equity : CoE
. |Capital Resesves & Grant 14 1,072,204,862.52
| Acumulated Fund. 15 . 42,334,162.79
" |t.oan Fund 16 70,336,385.08
Reséirve Fund 17 | 228,234,165.20
| Total Net Assets/ eqdty 1,413,109,575.59

“Fhe Amaunﬁng_l’uliciés and Notes to the Finangial statements £rom piigs 03 1005 form an ingfal part of the Pinancial Statements,




' Rs. C_fs;

0perahng Revenue

Uncome 16(20-25) 790,112,379.38

19, - 330,000,000.00

Govemment & Forelgn Grant '

182,162,000.00
661,511,000.00.

I‘atal lncome

1,120,112,579.36

Operating Expen.ses
Personziel Eiridlﬁment

26 411,160,767.39 |
16,704,598.21
30,264,601.70

'- 56765;60&16

'. 63,249,363.82

305,910,076.76
96,205,035.20 |
56,694,05481

641,202.70

Frave]lmg Expenses

Supphes and comumable used

RN

© 843,673,000.00

281,905,000.00. |

379, ,UDGUU .

267200000 |

115,552,00000-|
12300,000.00 |-

- 0.00°
32,235,000.00 | -
000

1,037,595,394.75

* 843,673,000.00

'he Accounhng Po]ic:les and Notes to the F

Certified Correct -

Director Finance. -

6™ February 2018
National Fnsttute of Educatior

statements from page 0 to 05 form an integral part of the Financial

_ Approved

Dr, T.AR.). Gunasekara
- Director General




Loan Fund Revaluatio

Capital  Accumulate Total .
nand other Reserves d Fund
_ Reserves
Rs; .Cts.  Rs. Cts. Rs. Cis. Rs. Cts.
2016 65,347,543 231,875,009 1,069,018531 (81,616,425)
Revenue R Nil Nit Nil
! Nil Nil Nil
Nil 21,000,000 - Nil
Nit 43,438,912 Nil
Nil Nil Nil
Nil Nil Nil
Nil Nil Nit
Nil Nil Nil
Nil Nil Nil
Nil Nil 37,792,759 792,759 |
Nil (733,558) Nit (733,558) [ -
Nit 2,876,305 Nil 2,876,305 | i
' Nil Nl Nl -
Nil Nil Nil -
Nil Nl .- N R
NI (53,295325)  Nil (53,295,325)
Nil Nil Nil P
. Nil Nit Nt -
. Nil _ Nil Nil -
734,282 231,875,009 1,082,304,865  (43,823,666) _1,338,000490 |
7,734,282 231,875,009 1,082,304,865 (43,823,666)° 1,338,090,490 | -
] Nil Nl Nil S -
N Nil Nl T
Nil 46,000,000 Nil - 46,000,000
pltal Grant (Forieng Ald) Nil ' Niil Nil -
posal Proﬁt Fund (3,640,844) Nil 3,640,844 -
nsfer fo Loan Fund Nil - Nil - ONil o
Nil © NI Nt _ .
12,1 Nil Nit il 2,602,103
_ Nl Nil Nil Nil -
plus for the year SN il Ni 82,516,985 82,516,985
1ation LN Nil (498,405) " Nil {498,405)
int for Treasury & others Nil Nil 0o Nil .
faluation surplus&other reserves| | AL Nit © Nil Nil -
sion for Research Development Nil Nit Nil Nil -
lete stock Nil Nil Nil Nil -
cciation (Deferred Reserves) CNil Nil (55,601,597) Nil {55,601,597)|
Accounted Nil Nil Nil Nil - .E
sion for Capital Nil Nil Nit Nil - *
sion for Research Development Nl Nil ~ Nil Nil - -
' : 70,336,385 228,234,165 1,072,204,863 = 42,334,163 1,413,109,575




ustment for :
t Cash movements

rt Term Investment
t Cash used in Fmanﬂng Achviﬁes R '
Net lncrease / (decrease) Tn Cash and Cash Equ:valents

Liish & Cash Equlvalents at the begmmng of year

82,516,985

46,528,545 |
32,338,539

6,432,735

167,-8'_16,_._803

42, 526 572

358,111,5%
(16,118,224)

241,993,108

147,847 163

320,852,666

sh & Cash Equivalents at End of the Year - -




